

Walden University Scholar Works

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

Strategies for Reducing Corporate Accountants' Turnover Through Implementing Workplace Flexibility

Elizabeth Nwoseh-Streeter Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Accounting Commons, Business Administration, Management, and Operations Commons, Finance and Financial Management Commons, and the Management Sciences and Quantitative Methods Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Elizabeth Nwoseh-Streeter

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Sarah Matthey, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Janie Hall, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Peter Anthony, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

Abstract

Strategies for Reducing Corporate Accountants' Turnover Through Implementing

Workplace Flexibility

by

Elizabeth K. Nwoseh-Streeter

MBA, Argosy University, 2015

BS, University of Buckingham, 1987

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2018

Abstract

Flexibility in the workplace is no longer perceived as a benefit to employees but as a requirement for organizations to remain competitive. Financial compensation alone may be insufficient to encourage employee retention. The purpose of this qualitative, single case study was to explore the strategies that corporate accounting and finance leaders implement to promote workplace flexibility for increasing accountants' retention. The conceptual framework for this study was Karasek's demand control support framework. The research sample consisted of 6 corporate accounting and finance leaders who had a history of successfully implementing a workplace flexibility program. Data analysis consisted of compiling the data, coding for emergent and a priori codes, disassembling the data into common codes, reassembling the data into themes, interpreting the meaning, and reporting the themes. The major themes from the findings of this study were leadership support and commitment, organization-wide tailored flexibility, clear communication of expectations, trust and cooperation, employee evaluation based on results and deliverables, and the use of technological advances to enhance team collaboration. Organizations and business leaders can use the findings from this study to create competitive advantage by enhancing their existing flexibility policies or to implement formal workplace flexibility policies that may help to reduce the stress and strain that employees experience in attempting to balance their personal and professional life. The implications for social change include creating a balance between employees' jobs and other responsibilities that allow employees to contribute positively to their family and the local community.

Strategies for Reducing Corporate Accountants' Turnover Through Implementing Workplace Flexibility

by

Elizabeth K. Nwoseh-Streeter

MBA, Argosy University, 2015 BS, University of Buckingham, 1987

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2018

Dedication

To you God be the Glory! I dedicate this research to my family. To my fellow scholar, best friend, and husband, Xavjah Streeter I, Ph.D., thank you for encouraging me to commence this journey. A doctoral study was never part of my plan. I knew it would be challenging, but your support made it easier. You are my tower of strength and this would not have materialized without you. Hand in hand we have come this far. To Xavjah II and Genesis my twins, thank you for your patience and daily prayers. I hope that I have set a great example and inspired you both. I have seen you two grow overnight to young outstanding independent scholars as you became teenagers. To my mother Lucy, Nwoseh, who we affectionately call mama Lucy, I am grateful for you and for your unending support mummy. You were the first to demonstrate that it is never too late to go back to school. You continue to inspire me and your grandchildren by exemplifying the importance of lifelong learning. To my father Chief Martins Nwoseh, I thank you for instilling the importance of education in me at an early age. I will continue to pass the numerous life lessons I learned from you to the next generation. To my mother in law Diane, you are an educational inspiration to your generation and mine. To my brothers and sisters, I appreciate your patience while I was incommunicado during this journey. To our beloved dog Smartz. Rain or shine, night and day, cold or warm, you kept my company, always laying by my feet under the table not knowing when this was going to come to an end. I have reached the end of this journey and I am ready to begin our walks.

Acknowledgements

My gratitude and thanks to my chair, Dr. Sarah Matthey. Thank you for your guidance, support, and your consistent timely review of my work. I am truly grateful. I will like to thank and acknowledge my second committee member Dr. Janie Hall and my URR, Dr. Peter Anthony. Thank you for your contribution to the success of this work. I will also like to acknowledge Dr. Julia East, Dr. Rocky Dwyer, and Dr. Gene Fusch for their direction during my residency and the foundation period of this study. Thank you for your commitment.

Table of Contents

Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	4
Interview Questions	4
Conceptual Framework	5
Operational Definitions	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	7
Delimitations	8
Significance of the Study	8
Contribution to Business Practice	9
Implications for Social Change	9
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
The Demand Control Support Conceptual Framework	11
Competing Theories	14
Types of Flexibility	16
Employee and Organizational Outcomes	20

Barriers to workplace flexibility	38
Transition	45
Section 2: The Project	46
Purpose Statement	46
Role of the Researcher	46
Participants	49
Research Method and Design	50
Research Methods	50
Research Design	53
Population and Sampling	55
Ethical Research	57
Data Collection Instruments	58
Data Collection Technique	59
Data Organization Technique	61
Data Analysis	62
Reliability and Validity	65
Dependability	65
Credibility	66
Transferability	66
Confirmability	67
Data Saturation	67
Transition and Summary	68

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	69
Introduction	69
Presentation of the Findings	69
Theme 1: Company-wide Availability of Flexibility	70
Theme 2: Tailored and Adaptable Flexibility	72
Theme 3: Clear Communication of Expectations	77
Theme 4: Trust and Cooperation	80
Theme 5: Performance Evaluation Based on Results	82
Theme 6: The Use of Technology to Enhance Collaboration	86
Applications to Professional Practice	87
Implications for Social Change	89
Recommendations for Action	90
Recommendations for Further Research	91
Reflections	92
Conclusion	93
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	122

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Several strategies exist that organizations can use to reduce employee turnover apart from benefits and compensation. Many employees seek flexible work schedules that allow them to balance their personal and professional life (Kossivi, Xu, & Kalgora, 2016; Kröll & Nüesch, 2017). The availability of flexibility in the workplace continues to become more important for the workforce, and the availability of flexibility can influence an employee's decision to remain in an organization (Kossivi et al., 2016).

Organizational leaders invest time and resources in recruiting highly skilled employees but struggle to retain them (Cicei, 2015; Kossek, Thompson, & Lautsch, 2015).

Consequently, increased employee turnover can negatively affect an organization's bottom line (Jain, 2013). The use of alternative work schedules and family-friendly programs can help to reduce employee turnover (Kröll & Nüesch, 2017). The focus of this study was to explore the strategies that business leaders use to increase workplace flexibility to reduce turnover.

Background of the Problem

Flexibility programs are increasing in the United States and other developing economies. Approximately 70% of organizations allow their employees some flexibility, while 37% allow most of their employees a periodic amount of time to change their start or finish times (Williams, Blair-Loy, & Berdahl, 2013). Yet, business leaders have limited strategies to increase flexibility in the workplace (Stout, Awad, & Guzmán, 2013). Workplace flexibility initiatives remain a critical element of a results-driven work environment. Financial compensation is not a suitable strategy to encourage employee

retention (Idris, 2014). Therefore, companies consider workplace flexibility another tool for employee retention.

Workplace flexibility is a productivity tool that organizational leaders can apply to align the interest of the employees and organizational goals. Perceived work-related stress continues to increase, resulting in reduced employee well-being and increased organizational costs (Weiß, 2017). As employees face cumulative conflict in balancing their personal and professional responsibilities, the availability of a flexibility policy shows an organization's commitment to the welfare of the employees (Williams et al., 2013). Flexibility in the workplace increases job satisfaction, improves employee retention, and could reduce employee turnover (Kröll & Nüesch, 2017). Organizational leaders can use workplace flexibility to increase employee satisfaction and loyalty to reduce turnover.

Problem Statement

Business leaders who do not implement workplace flexibility within their organizations may struggle to retain top professionals (Cicei, 2015; Kossek et al., 2015). Workplace flexibility improves employee retention by 66% (Wells-Lepley, Thelen, & Swanberg, 2015). The general business problem is that corporate accounting and finance professionals voluntarily leave organizations because of lack of workplace flexibility. The specific business problem is that some corporate accounting and finance leaders lack strategies to increase workplace flexibility for increasing accountants' retention.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, single case study was to explore the strategies that corporate accounting and finance leaders implement to promote workplace flexibility for increasing accountants' retention. The targeted population consisted of six corporate accounting and finance leaders in a communications, media, and automotive services company in the greater Atlanta, Georgia area, with a history of successfully implementing a workplace flexibility program to increase employee retention in their organization. Organizations can use the results of this study to improve corporate accounting and finance leaders' understanding of the role that employee control over working hours has on reducing job strain and resignations.

Nature of the Study

I chose the qualitative method for this study. Researchers use the qualitative method to understand the phenomena from the participants' viewpoint based on the participants' experience (Yin, 2018). I used the qualitative method to explore the strategies that corporate accounting and finance leaders use to increase workplace flexibility. Quantitative researchers test a hypothesis (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). The quantitative method was not suitable for this study because a statistical analysis and the testing of hypothesis was not necessary to explore the strategies that leaders use to implement workplace flexibility. The mixed method is a mixture of qualitative and quantitative methods (Halcomb & Hickman, 2015), and it was not suitable for this study because I did not need to combine the methods to explore leaders' strategies for workplace flexibility.

I used a single case study. Researchers use case studies by applying a variety of data collection methods to gain insights of processes and individuals (Lokke & Sorensen, 2014). I considered ethnography, grounded theory, and narrative designs. Ethnographers observe the behaviors and daily practices of a cultural group (Small, Maher, & Kerr, 2014). I did not choose ethnography for this study because I did not observe the behaviors and daily practices of a cultural group. Researchers use a narrative design to understand the participants' experiences and to provide an account of the participants' daily life (Clandinin, 2016; Daiute, 2014). The narrative approach was not appropriate for this study because it does not involve the reconstruction of events and experiences. A researcher can use grounded theory to develop theories from the information collected (Lewis, 2015). Grounded theory was not suitable because the purpose of this study was not to create a theory based on a phenomenon.

Research Question

I used the following research question to gain an understanding of the strategies that corporate accounting and finance leaders use to implement workplace flexibility:

What strategies do corporate accounting and finance leaders implement to enable workplace flexibility to increase accountants' retention?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you used to encourage workplace flexibility?
- 2. What are the most effective strategies you used to improve workplace flexibility?
- 3. What barriers to workplace flexibility did you encounter?

- 4. How have employees reacted to your current workplace flexibility strategies?
- 5. How does your organization track the effectiveness of your strategies to increase workplace flexibility for increasing accountants' retention?
- 6. What additional information would you like to add relating to the topic of workplace flexibility strategies?

Conceptual Framework

Karasek (1979) developed the demand control support (DCS) framework in 1979, proposing that workplace inflexibility through limited freedom to determine schedules or make decisions results in job strain. Karasek later included support at work, the requirements of the job, and control over work as factors influencing job strain in the DCS model. Using the DCS model, Carvalho and Chambel (2013) found that employees with a high level of autonomy and a greater level of support from their supervisor can manage their job demands, resulting in improved employee well-being. Employees who experience high physiological demand from their job with little organizational support and no control over their schedule are at increased risk of job strain.

Organizational leaders can help employees reduce job strain by allowing them a higher level of control over their schedule. According to Bal Taştan (2016), in the DCS model, an employee's control over his or her job decreases job strain, and support from the organization decreases perceived job strain. Building upon Karasek's theory of employee job strain and the DCS model, Bal Taştan argued that organizational support and perceived job control reduce the level of perceived job strain. Implementing

workplace flexibility and allowing employees to have a higher level of control over their work schedule could reduce the stain that employees experience and result in the perception of organizational support (Bal Taştan, 2016). The DCS model was suitable for this research in understanding how the use of workplace flexibility and employee control over work schedule could increase employee retention by reducing job strain.

Operational Definitions

Absenteeism: Absenteeism is the failure of an employee to report for scheduled work (McGrandle & Ohemeng, 2017).

Employee retention: Employee retention is the initiatives that organizations use to maintain an environment that encourages the current workforce to remain with the organization (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017).

Employee turnover: Employee turnover is the departure of employees from a workforce (Fang, Su, Wang, & He, 2017).

Job satisfaction: Job satisfaction is the fulfillment that employees experience in their job (Sudha, 2017).

Job strain: Job strain refers to the emotional anxiety that an employee experience at work when they perceive a threat to their wellbeing (Bal Taştan, 2016).

Work-family conflict: Work-family represents the conflict between work and family that an employee encounters when the responsibilities of one domain conflicts with the requirements of another domain (Ismail & Gali, 2016).

Work-life balance: Work-life balance represents an employee's ability to balance the demands of his or her work and life domain (Fazili & Khan, 2017).

Workplace flexibility: According to Kossek et al., (2015) workplace flexibility is the employment scheduling practices that offer employees an increased level of control over their schedule, the place they work, and the amount of work they perform.

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are beliefs individuals take for granted (Marshall, 2017). The qualitative research method carries underlying assumptions about the researcher and participants that guide the process, practices, and interactions (Latunde, 2017). The first assumption for this study was that the study participants would provide honest responses to my interview questions. An additional assumption was that the data that I gathered from my interviews would be adequate to answer the study research questions.

Limitations

In research, limitations are biases or potential weaknesses that may restrict the transferability of the findings of a research study (Yin, 2018), or influence the results of the study through participant responses (Wright et al., 2014). A researcher cannot control potential weaknesses in a study (Kirkwood & Price, 2013). Limitations are aspects of the research that may adversely affect its validation (Brutus, Anguinis, & Wassmer, 2013). Because of the number of participants who participated in the study, the validity of the results depended on each accounting and finance leader providing truthful answers to the interview questions. Although this sample may provide an understanding of the strategies that the accounting and finance leaders applied to promote workplace flexibility in the

Atlanta area, it may not be enough to ensure that the study results transfer to the population in other geographical locations.

Delimitations

Delimitations are the boundaries that the researcher determines in the study (Beck, 2014). Delimitations represent the aspects of the study that determines the boundary or limits the scope (Beck, 2014; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Marshall and Rossman (2016) recommended the use of delimitations to identify the scope of the study. For purposes of this study, there were three delimitations. First, restricting the participants to only accounting and finance leaders in director level positions in one organization was a delimitation. The second delimitation restricted the population of the study to the greater Atlanta, Georgia area, and the third limited the sample size to six participants.

Significance of the Study

Corporate accounting and finance leaders can use the results of this study to encourage workplace flexibility. There is increased concern in the United States and other developing economies over deteriorating work-life balance (Bloom, Liang, Roberts, & Ying, 2013). Organizations can benefit from flexible work schedules that promote work-life balance (Kröll & Nüesch, 2017). Recommendations from the results of this research may support organizational leaders in developing workplace flexibility policies that could assist in the recruitment, development, and retention of an engaged workforce that organizations need to achieve their business objectives. The workplace flexibility strategies identified from this research may provide an opportunity for other leaders to

implement similar strategies, which may improve the corporate culture for improved positive social change.

Contribution to Business Practice

Factors associated with inadequate workplace flexibility policies could result to an increase in employee turnover. Better work-life balance has the potential to increase the morale and well-being of employees (Fiksenbaum, 2014; Su, Li, & Curry, 2016). The use of alternative work schedules and family-friendly programs can help to reduce employee turnover (Kröll & Nüesch, 2017). Workers perform better in organizations that encourage life-work balance (Bloom et al., 2013). Corporate accounting and finance leaders and policymakers can apply the findings and recommendations from this research to improve workplace flexibility. Organizational leaders can use workplace flexibility to reduce employee turnover to achieve competitive advantage and reduce the costs associated with recruitment and retention (Kotey, 2017; Zhang et al., 2015). The findings from this research may also provide leaders with strategies on how to craft workplace flexibility policies that could be helpful in reducing employee turnover, saving the organization the cost of replacing employees.

Implications for Social Change

Companies that incorporate workplace flexibility may promote employee work-life balance. Implementing flexible benefits can reduce the conflict that employees experience in balancing their work and family (Cicei, 2015). Work-life balance exists when employees assume professional responsibilities and family obligations without either negatively affecting the other (Timms et al., 2014). Workplace flexibility and

work-life benefit programs could be advantageous for the employer and employee (Bloom et al., 2013; Stout et al., 2013).

The conclusion from this study might contribute to positive social change by providing strategies for implementing workplace flexibility, which permits employees a higher level of control over the time and place they work. The local Atlanta, Georgia community could benefit by providing a better quality of life for children with employed parents as well as workers who act as primary caregivers for their family members. The outcomes of this study may also contribute to positive social change by offering a richer comprehension of corporate accounting and finance leaders' strategies to increase workplace flexibility to promote a healthy balance between an employee's work and other life obligations. The recommendations from this study may encourage workplace flexibility and promote a healthier balance between an employee's job and other responsibilities by establishing an organizational culture that reflects those values.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Workplace flexibility and the effect of the availability of flexibility is a popular topic in business research. According to Kossek and Thompson (2016), the demographics of the workforce, combined with the changing nature of work, means that organizational effectiveness depends on the implementation of workplace flexibility practices. The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies that corporate accounting and finance leaders implement to promote workplace flexibility for increasing accountants' retention. Effective implementation of workplace flexibility could increase employees' control over their work schedules and help to reduce job strain and

resignations. In this review of professional and academic literature, my focus was on the conceptual framework guiding the study, competing theories, three types of workplace flexibility, employee and organizational outcomes, and barriers to workplace flexibility.

Fry, Scammell, and Barker (2017) stressed that the literature review is an essential part of the research. Researchers use the literature review to examine information on the current expanse of knowledge on the topic explored. I used the Walden University Library to find peer-reviewed journals and seminal sources published after 2013 from the following database: ProQuest, EBSCOhost, SAGE Premier, Business Source Complete, PsycARTICLES, SAGE Research Methods Online, Emerald Insight, Springer ebooks, ABI/Inform Complete, Google Scholar, and publications by professional organizations including the Society for Human Resources Management (SHRM) and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). The keywords for my search included workplace flexibility, flexible work arrangements, control of work schedule, flexplace, flextime, employee productivity, intent to leave, employee turnover, job satisfaction, and job autonomy, spillover theory, demand control support, motivator-hygiene theory, conservation of resources theory, and scarcity hypothesis. This literature review contains 103 scholarly journals, books, and business periodicals between 1979 and 2018, 95% of which are peer-reviewed. Ninety two of the 103 publications (89%) have a publication date between 2013 and 2018.

The Demand Control Support Conceptual Framework

I used the DCS model by Karasek (1979) to support this study. Karasek stated that high demand from an employee's job combined with low autonomy results in high

job-related stain and low demand from an employee's job combined with high level of autonomy results in low job strain. Employees in high strain jobs are more likely to experience adverse outcomes than those in low strain jobs (Bal Taştan, 2016; Vanishree, 2014). Karasek proposed that workplace inflexibility with limited freedom to determine schedules or make decisions results in job strain. The conceptual framework of this study included Karasek's strain hypothesis, using the demand an employee experience from his or her job and the autonomy to determine his or her schedule as predictors of job strain.

According to Karasek's (1979) strain hypothesis, job demands (an individual's feelings about the work that he or she performs) and job control (the autonomy that an employee can exercise) determines an employee's strain level. The extended version of the DCS model by Johnson and Hall (1988) includes the effect of support such as support from colleagues and supervisors. Johnson and Hall suggested that social support could also reduce the perception of job strain. Karasek used the job stain model to illustrate that work overload increases job strain. Work overload is the employee's perception of having too much work with limited or inadequate resources, such as time to meet work demand (Ali & Farooqi, 2014). Work overload could result in perceived job strain. Bal Taştan (2014a, 2014b), and Vanishree (2014) found that work overload increases strain on employees and has an adverse effect on job satisfaction. Karimi, Omar, Alipour, and Karimi (2014) demonstrated that work-related strain increases employee turnover intention, adversely affecting employee's overall well-being. Job strain decreases organizational commitment (Malik et al., 2013). Therefore, reducing perceived workload could help to reduce employee job strain.

Organizational support could reduce the consequences of job strain. Perceived organizational support reduces job strain (Rineer, Truxillo, Bodner, Hammer, & Kraner, 2017). Shrestha and Mishra (2015) found a negative association between perceived organizational support and the job strain that employees experience at work. Karatepe (2013) found that employees feel valued and perceive organizational concern about their well-being when they receive sufficient support. Consequently, employees who perceive support from their employer may experience less strain at work.

By having control over their job, an employee could reduce the level of strain that they experience. Bal Taştan (2016) reported that employees who have high control over their job experienced a lower level of strain. Bal Taştan (2016) also reported that organizational support resulted in a lower level of strain, and the perception of having too much work had a positive effect on job strain. Bal Taştan (2016) supported Karasek's (1979) strain hypothesis, concluding that perceived work overload would result in an employees' perception of job strain, while social support and job control would reduce perceived job strain. Employees who receive support from their organizations and exercise autonomy are likely to experience a decreased level of strain (Vanishree, 2014). Workplace inflexibility with limited autonomy to determine schedules or make decisions may result in job strain.

An employee's working time autonomy involves the ability to determine his or her start and finish time, decide the number of hours to work each work day or work week, and occasionally decide where to work. Increased responsibility between an individual's professional work and private life means it is critical for organizations to implement flexibility policies that allow employees greater control over their work schedule (Kossek et al., 2015). Offering employees some flexibility that assists them in exercising autonomy of where they work and how long they perform their work could help them ease the integration of their professional and family commitment.

Competing Theories

I considered Bronfenbrenner's (1979) ecological systems theory when deciding on a conceptual framework. Bronfenbrenner suggested that a person is best understood in the context of his or her interaction between his or her characteristics and environment. Bronfenbrenner described the environment as four structures composed of the microsystem, the mesosystem, the exosystem, and the macrosystem. Bronfenbrenner identified the home, the workplace, and the community as the most critical microsystems. The overlap across the home, the workplace, and the community, because of an employee's involvement in each domain, is the mesosystems (Bronfenbrenner, 1979; Voydanoff, 2001). According to Bronfenbrenner, an employee is inclined to achieve increased growth and performance from the environmental resources that he or she receives from the home, workplace, and community. Hill et al., (2008) described workplace flexibility as a characteristic of the environment that enables mutual exchanges between a worker and his or her environment, resulting in beneficial outcomes for the worker, the families, and the organization. Facilitating flexibility in the workplace provides employees support in integrating their personal, professional, and community responsibilities.

I also considered Hobfoll's (1989) conservation of resources theory as a conceptual framework for this study. According to Hobfoll's theory, individuals attempt to obtain and manage resources that, if lost, leads to stress. An employee's drive to accomplish personal and professional demands involves the protection, replenishment, and investment in resources, and the loss of such resources without replenishment can cause the employee to experience stress and burnout, which may result in adverse outcomes (Hobfoll, 1989). Similar to Bronfenbrenner's (1979) ecological systems theory, Hobfoll identified the types of resources such as time and support, as environmental properties that can be acted upon. Resources in the form of work time flexibility and organizational support could help employees manage work-related stress.

I also considered Pleck's (1977) spillover theory as the conceptual framework for this study. Pleck suggested that the structure, values, and experiences at work can either facilitate or challenge a worker's ability to accomplish his or her responsibilities at home. According to Pleck, a negative spillover will result if work and family interactions are rigidly structured. Conversely, workplace flexibility, which permits employees to integrate their work and family commitments, leads to positive spillover. Adisa, Osabutey, and Gbadamosi (2016) used the spillover conceptual framework and found that the absence of work-family policies contributed to employee's work-family conflict. Pleck illustrated that the ability of an employee to integrate his or her personal and professional responsibilities results in positive spillover.

I used the DCS conceptual framework by Karasek (1979) because of its suitability for this study. Although the above competing theories included the importance of

workplace flexibility, in the DCS conceptual framework, Bal Taştan (2016) demonstrated that an employee's autonomy over his or her job could mitigate the strain that employees experience and help them manage work-family conflict. Workplace flexibility that offers a degree of freedom and autonomy plays a role in the DCS model, and workplace flexibility allows an employee autonomy over his or her work, which can reduce job strain.

Types of Flexibility

Numerous types of workplace flexibility encompass a variety of arrangements. The most popular flexibility programs that organizations offer are flextime, flexplace, and compressed work weeks (Wells-Lepley et al., 2015). Flexible work arrangements provide a level of independence that allows employees some autonomy over their work schedule.

Flextime. Employees use flextime to create their work schedule, often around their personal responsibilities. Flextime allows employees to work a period of time each work day or work week by adjusting their start and finish time around a core working time (Munsch, 2016; Thompson, Payne, & Taylor, 2015). Employees using flextime redistribute their tasks around organizational or departmental requirement (Veeramani & Gayathri, 2013), allowing employees to accommodate work and personal demands.

Although this type of flexibility may not be suitable for all sectors or industries such as manufacturing, the use of flextime increases work-life balance, job commitment, and employee loyalty (Thompson et al., 2015; Wells-Lepley et al., 2015). The use of flextime allows employees to break up their work day or work week to attend to personal matters

or alleviate concerns with traffic by commuting outside of rush hours, hence improving work-life balance. By creating their own schedules, employees can balance the demand of work with other personal commitments that may cause conflict with their job.

Flexplace. Flexplace offers employees the ability to work remotely away from their central work location. Flexplace allows employees to work remotely frequently, for 1 day a week, or on an as-needed basis. The use of flexplace also permits employees the opportunity to incorporate their work and nonwork tasks into their work days (Kossek & Lautsch, 2017). Telework that enables employees to work from home is a form of flexplace (Munsch, Ridgeway, & Williams, 2014; Thompson et al., 2015). Flexplace includes employees working from an organizations' corporate or satellite office nearest to their residence, a customer or client's office, a café or neighborhood work center, or while traveling (Coenen & Kok, 2014). Employees who engaged in the use of flexplace in the form of telecommuting reported increased levels of job satisfaction (Gajendran, Harrison, & Delaney-Klinger, 2015). Haar, Russo, Suñe, and Ollier-Malaterre (2014) and Greer and Payne (2014) confirmed that employees who have access to telecommuting experienced less work-life conflict. Flexibility in the location that an employee performs their work is beneficial for the employer through improved work outcomes and added spatial freedom (Hazak, Männasoo, & Virkebau, 2017). Employees who have access to teleworking are happier than those who do not (Hazak et al., 2017). Workers are happier, more alert, and enthusiastic on the days that they work remotely (Anderson, Kaplan, & Vega, 2015; Hazak et al., 2017). The use of flexplace benefits both the employee and

employer. Employees who can choose their work location experience increased wellbeing.

For employees who work from home, boundary control can become an issue. The increased use of computers and electronic telecommunication devices outside of core working hours may increase work-life conflict (Wright et al., 2014). Wright et al. (2014) revealed that hours of an employee's use of electronic telecommunication devices outside of regular working hours contributed to their perceptions of conflict in their personal and professional life. Demerouti, Derks, ten Brummelhuis, and Bakker (2014) suggested that allowing employees the autonomy to decide when and where to work as well as what type of communication device to use may increase work-family conflict. The blur in the boundary between work and nonwork responsibilities may increase the perception of work-family conflict. Nevertheless, employees with longer commutes find this type of flexibility useful as it reduces their commute time, resulting in savings in travel cost (Blount, 2015; Kossek & Thompson, 2016). Although supporters of flexplace cited the savings that some organizations realize such as reduced operating cost in the form of lower real estate expenses (Goodman, 2013), or savings in cost related to office equipment as demonstrated by (Sarbu, 2014), organizations face various flexibilityrelated challenges. Organizational leaders face challenges from implementing and managing flexible work policies, and some leaders find supervising and communicating in a flexible working environment difficult.

One of the challenges organizational leaders may face with flexplace is the ability to manage team performance and measure efficiency by deliverables or employee productivity instead of the number of hours they are present at work. The popularity of workplace flexibility signifies a change in how work is done, where it is done, and how employers evaluate employees (Blount, 2015), creating challenges for organizations, especially in relation to the management of employees (Biermeier-Hanson, Liu, & Dickson, 2015). Managers have limited understanding of how to manage employees with flexible schedules (Kocakülâh, Bryan, & Lynch, 2018). A workplace flexibility policy may provide managers with organizational guidelines and ensure that employees adhere to departmental procedures.

Although not a reliable measure of productivity, managers can observe the number of hours that employees work on site, but it is difficult for managers to gauge the productivity of employees who work from a remote location (Munsch, 2016). As organizations struggle to deal with the leadership challenges they face managing workplace flexibility, Blount (2015) stressed that research into the management competencies essential for workplace flexibility remains inadequate. Blount concluded that the success of managing employees would depend on the willingness of managers to invest effort into learning how to adapt to flexibility in the workplace, as well as embracing the continuous changes in technology while remaining open to the dynamic nature of workplace flexibility. Effective management of workplace flexibility would depend on a manager's willingness to appraise each employee on his or her productivity and the quality of their deliverables rather than on the amount of time spent working.

Compressed work week. The compressed work week is the workplace flexibility practice that permits employees to work their agreed, contracted, or mandatory number of

hours over a shorter period, such as working 4 days each week at 10 hours a day to accomplish the required 40 hours of a traditional full-time job (Wells-Lepley et al., 2015). Employees compress their work week working fewer days and more extended hours each day (Munsch et al., 2014). Kossek and Thompson (2016) explained that a compressed work week could allow employees to attend to nonwork demands, such as doctor appointments that they may otherwise not be able to attend to on weekdays. Also, a compressed work week provides the opportunity for employees to reduce their number of commuting days (Munsch et al., 2014). Organizations may benefit from the use of compressed work week through savings of operating costs if employees maintain productivity and work fewer days.

Employee and Organizational Outcomes

Workplace flexibility could benefit both the employer and employees. According to Stout et al. (2013) and Fiksenbaum (2014), flexibility in the workplace can benefit the organization by promoting employees' well-being and enhancing performance and productivity. Workplace flexibility also benefits employees by offering the employee more control of his or her work schedule, which could reduce work-to-family conflict. Exploring strategies leaders use to increase flexibility in the workplace could help organizations implement and manage policies that support workplace flexibility, supporting the need for this study.

The practice of flexibility in the workplace has increased. Matos and Galinsky (2014) reported that organizations offering workplace flexibility increased from 68% in 1998 to 81% in 2014. Matos and Galinsky also revealed that 81% of U.S. employers

allowed some of their employees to alter their start and finish time. Furthermore, 67% of employers allowed their employees to work remotely occasionally (Matos & Galinsky, 2014). As flexibility in the workplace becomes increasingly popular, an efficient implementation of workplace flexibility policy may result in supporting employees' work-life need while accomplishing organizational goals (Kossek & Thompson, 2016). Therefore, the increased use of flexibility in the workplace can lead to a positive employee and organizational outcomes.

Organizations can enjoy favorable outcomes from implementing workplace flexibility. Several scholars argued that by implementing workplace flexibility, organizations may benefit from improved employee retention (Idris, 2014; Kossivi et al., 2016; Kotey, 2017), increased employee job satisfaction, and organizational commitment (Kang, 2013; Kröll & Nüesch, 2017), and increased productivity (Fiksenbaum, 2014). Potential job applicants, especially the Millennial workforce who desire more flexibility in the workplace, may view organizations that provide workplace flexibility favorably (DeVaney, 2015; Thompson et al., 2015). As most employees experience conflict with integrating work and their family commitment, implementing workplace flexibility may help employees achieve balance and increase organizational outcomes.

Other researchers in the study of workplace flexibility focused on the effect of the use of workplace flexibility on organizational as well as employee outcomes. Several researchers debated the relationship between workplace flexibility and employee productivity (Berkery, Morley, Tiernan, Purtill, & Parry, 2017; Kar & Misra, 2013; Kossek et al., 2015); workplace flexibility, employee engagement, and job satisfaction

(Bal & De Lange, 2015; Kröll & Nüesch, 2017); workplace flexibility and employee retention (Christeen, 2015; Idris, 2014; Yamaguchi, Inoue, Harada, & Oike, 2016); workplace flexibility and work-life balance (Deery & Jago, 2015; Harden, Boakye, & Ryan, 2016); and workplace flexibility and work-family conflict (Bray et al., 2017; Cicei, 2015; Fiksenbaum, 2014). Conclusions from these studies on the effects of the availability of workplace flexibility on both employees and organizations resulted in mixed findings.

No consensus exists in the literature on the effect of workplace flexibility. Although workplace flexibility is more popular in developing economies, uncertainty remains on how they affect employee work-life balance and if employees benefit from them (Erden Bayazit, & Bayazit, 2017). Yet, the research surrounding workplace flexibility is mostly one-sided, taking the perspective of the employee or employer, while often overlooking the overall implications of implementing flexibility initiatives (Kossek & Thompson, 2016).

Research on the effects of workplace flexibility on employee's work-life balance and organizational outcomes is unclear (Galea, Houkes, & De Rijk, 2014). Although proponents of workplace flexibility demonstrated a significant positive relationship between workplace flexibility and organizational as well as employee outcomes, including employee retention, increased productivity, job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and work-life balance (Chung, 2017; Chung & Tijdens, 2013), some researchers such as (Allen, Johnson, Kiburz, & Shockley, 2013; Bray et al., 2017; Friedman & Westring, 2015) found conflicting evidence regarding the benefits and

effectiveness of workplace flexibility. Chou and Cheung (2013) argued that the effectiveness of flexibility policies are mostly unknown. Allen et al. (2013) attempted to clarify the correlation between workplace flexibility and work-family conflict and concluded that the correlation between workplace flexibility and work-family conflict is smaller than the other researchers assumed. Bae and Goodman (2014) found that although workplace flexibility policies increased productivity, the availability of workplace flexibility policies did not decrease employee turnover rates. Bae and Goodman also reported that an increased proportion of female workers related to higher employee turnover. The lack of effect on employee turnover rates is uncertain, supporting the need for further study.

The benefits and effectiveness of workplace flexibility remain unclear. Some researchers (Idris, 2014; Kossivi et al., 2016; Kröll & Nüesch, 2017; Wells-Lepley et al., 2015) discussed the positive outcomes of workplace flexibility and other work-life policies, Allen et al. (2013), Bray et al. (2017), and Friedman and Westring (2015), claimed that conflicting evidence exists regarding their effectiveness. Friedman and Westring proposed that organizations complement work-life policies with other initiatives to empower their employees to manage their professional and personal responsibilities. Wright et al. (2014) also concluded that although work-life conflict predicted employee burnout and employee job satisfaction, it did not predict employee turnover intentions or perceived life stress. Caillier (2016) indicated that employee satisfaction with workplace flexibility programs had an adverse effect on employee turnover; however, alternative work schedules, such as teleworking, had no effect on

employee turnover. Harden et al. (2016) claimed no significant relationship between work design and turnover intention. Mulvaney (2014) recommended further research to determine the outcomes of workplace flexibility programs. As workplace flexibility becomes increasingly popular as a means for workers to balance their professional and personal commitments, it is essential to encourage further studies to provide a greater understanding for scholars and practitioners.

The accounting profession is notorious for a culture of working long and unscheduled hours which contributes to increased stress and work-family role conflict (Buchheit, Dalton, Harp, & Hollingsworth, 2016). Accounting professionals perform critical financial tasks which contribute to organizational success (Seyrek & Turan, 2017). Some of the functions accountants perform include analyzing and interpreting financial data, preparing budgets and forecast to help management with their strategic decision making, as well as audit, tax, and other regulatory functions. Bearing in mind the fundamental role accounting professionals play in contributing to an organization's success, leaders must strive to attract and retain accounting professionals by implementing policies which may help to reduce stress and employee turnover. Exploring the benefits of workplace flexibility may help organizational leaders with implementation strategies, thus benefiting professionals engaged in the field. Workplace flexibility could serve to manage stress and role conflict among accounting professionals who perform critical financial tasks that contribute to organization's overall success.

Outcomes for employees and organizations vary by flexibility type. Berkery et al. (2017) presented a significant association between the types of workplace flexibility and

employee turnover, absenteeism, and productivity. Kossek and Lautsch (2017) observed a challenge in predicting if a particular type of flexibility will result in a specific outcome. Galea et al. (2014) indicated that although the various types of workplace flexibility create positive outcomes for the employer and employees, success depends on how organizations apply and implement the flexibility policies. Galea et al. also indicated that respondents with higher family responsibility perceived workplace flexibility not as a benefit, but a necessity.

Other concerns relating to workplace flexibility practices, such as flexplace or telecommuting, are the lack of team culture and collaboration. Isolation and apprehensions over knowledge sharing may negatively affect employees who work remotely. According to Blount (2015), social isolation and the lack of opportunities for collaboration are some of the limitations of workplace flexibility. Blount suggested that effective communication strategies and the use of remote work centers and off-site offices may offer collaboration opportunities and help mitigate some of the limitations of flexplace. Organizations should consider their employee profile in deciding which type of flexibility option would benefit the employee and the organization.

Employee retention. Employee retention is critical to maintaining a competitive advantage, and organizations must periodically review and enhance strategies to retain employees. Attracting and retaining committed and engaged employees can be a strategy for competitive advantage (Armache, 2013). Therefore, companies are beginning to include consideration for workplace flexibility as another tool for employee retention. According to Armache (2013), regardless of the type, size, structure, or the industry,

organizations depend on the commitment, skills, and knowledge of its employees as a driving factor for success. As organizations implement policies and practices such as flextime and telework to improve recruitment and retention, as well as enhance employee productivity and morale to reduce employee work-life issues, flexible work arrangement practices can help employees manage work and personal roles, which may lead to job satisfaction and boost firm performance or productivity. Results from this study may provide organizational leaders with methods to implement and manage workplace flexibility policies.

Organizational leaders should not rely on benefits and compensation alone to improve employee engagement and reduce turnover. Arguing that satisfaction with pay grade is not a reliable predictor of employee turnover, Bryant and Allen (2013) presented solutions other than benefits and compensation that organizations can use to keep employees engaged to reduce turnover. Although compensation influences an employee's turnover intention, financial compensation is an unsuitable strategy to encourage employee retention (Abii, Ogula, & Rose, 2013; Idris, 2014). Idris (2014) suggested that flexible work arrangement can increase employee engagement and reduce employee turnover. Additionally, Baum and Kabst (2013) revealed that although employees regard their salary as an obligation from their employers, they ranked other benefits such as workplace flexibility over salary. Baum and Kabst concluded that organizations might experience adverse consequences such as increased employee turnover when highlighting higher salaries over other benefits such as workplace flexibility. Wells-Lepley et al. (2015) reported that workplace flexibility that allows employees to decide where and

when they work improves employee retention by 66%. According to Wells-Lepley et al., workplace flexibility increases employee commitment and loyalty, improves morale, and reduces employee turnover. The use of workplace flexibility helps employees manage their work and personal commitment, increasing employee retention.

It is crucial for organizations to retain their talents to remain in business and stay competitive. Employees are assets to an organization's success, and the cost incurred because of high employee turnover could negatively affect the organization's profit (Jain, 2013). Organizations should attract the best talents and retain them (Kossivi et al., 2016). Kossivi et al. (2016) found that the lack of workplace flexibility is the major reason for employee retention issues. According to Kossivi et al., organizational leaders can increase employee retention by providing workplace flexibility, giving their employees the opportunity to fulfill their family responsibilities. In agreement, Kröll and Nüesch (2017) also reported that organizations leaders could decrease employee turnover and increase job satisfaction by offering workplace flexibility. The three considered flexible work practices (i.e., flextime, sabbaticals, and flexplace) significantly increase job satisfaction. Kossivi et al. found that organizations that permit their employees to fulfill their family responsibilities would experience increased employee retention. Yamaguchi et al. (2016) reported that the lack of job autonomy and work-family conflict predicted employee's intention to leave. Increasing job autonomy by offering employees the opportunity to determine their schedule could help them manage conflicts between their personal and professional lives which may result in lower employee turnover.

The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2016), reported that the average time an individual stayed in a job is 4.2 years, representing a decrease from 4.6 years in 2014. As employment pool continues to decline, companies must implement strategies to retain employees and attract new talents (Frankel, 2016). Organizations must recognize that employee retention is essential to sustain competitive advantage and remain profitable. Organizational leaders may consider implementing other employee retention strategies, including workplace flexibility.

Recruitment and replacements cost could negatively affect profitability by increasing an organization's departmental budget. The additional cost relating to employee replacement does not stop at the interviewing, administrative, and screening stages (Jain, 2013). Loss of productivity associated with the interim period before the hiring of a new employee; the loss of productivity from training by coworkers and supervisors; and the potential cost of communications of skills, procedures, and proprietary trade secrets to competitors could significantly affect an organization's profitability. An organization's success often depends on its human capital and retaining qualified and talented employees (Benito-Osorio, Muñoz-Aguado, & Villar, 2014; Jain, 2013). Organizations can use workplace flexibility to reduce employee turnover to achieve competitive advantage (Kotey, 2017; Zhang et al., 2015). Exploring workplace flexibility strategies associated with employee retention may help organizational leaders attract and retain committed and engaged employees.

Workplace flexibility is an essential part of diversity implementation.

Organizational leaders can use flexibility in the workplace to promote other initiatives

such as diversity (Sweet, Pitt-Catsouphes, Besen, & Golden, 2014). According to Bal and De Lange (2015), workplace flexibility may enhance younger workers' engagement and improve job performance. Bal and De Lange (2015) also found that flexibility enhanced job performance for older workers. According to Michielsens, Bingham, and Clarke (2013), women remain underrepresented at senior level positions because of retention issues driven by the culture of long and unscheduled hours. Women avoid positions that require constant availability to manage work-life conflict (Grönlund & Öun, 2017). Grönlund and Öun reported that even with comparable work demands, women did not have the same autonomy or control over their schedules as men. According to Wright, Crettenden, and Skinner (2015), more than 33% of fathers with disabled children experienced slower career progression and less employment opportunity because of caregiving. Wright et al. reported that nearly 50% of the fathers surveyed stated that they were not able to contribute to their child's care because of the lack of workplace flexibility, lack of employee resources, and lack of support from their employer. The availability of flexible work schedules could help organizations to attract more diverse talent.

Organizational commitment and Job satisfaction. Organizational leaders can use workplace flexibility to increase organizational commitment and employee job satisfaction. Workplace flexibility policies contribute to positive effects on employee attitudes. Kröll and Nüesch (2017) noted that flexible work practices improved work attitudes and job satisfaction. Kang (2013) demonstrated positive relationships between family-friendly policies, such as workplace flexibility and job satisfaction. Kang provided

backing on how the availability of workplace flexibility policies could enhance organizational commitment as well as job satisfaction. Consequently, future researchers should concentrate on providing practitioners with more information on the types of flexibility as well as their organizational implications, supporting the need for this study.

Organizational outcomes often depend on the type of flexibility they offer.

Thompson et al. (2015) revealed that flextime significantly affects employees' attraction to an organization. Wells-Lepley et al. (2015) reported that flextime is one of the most popular types of workplace flexibility resulting in higher job satisfaction and lower turnover. Organizations that offer flextime may attract more qualified and motivated employees (Idris, 2014). Workplace flexibility such as flextime that allows employees control over their work schedule could help organizations maintain higher levels of employee commitment through improved work attitudes and increased job satisfaction.

Stress, productivity, and quality of work. Workplace flexibility and control of work schedule could help employees manage stress, increase productivity, and quality of work. Lowering employees' stress levels increase productivity and quality of work. Shaheen, Batool, Sajid, and Nabi (2013) demonstrated that employees with less stress are more productive. A lack of flexibility can contribute to stress and problems in an employee's working life, which can affect his or her behavior, thoughts, activity, interpersonal relationships, communication, and productivity (Kim, Kim, & Kim, 2017). Stress and a lack of flexibility in the workplace affect work-to-family role conflict (Brown & Pitt-Catsouphes, 2016). Resources such as flexibility in the workplace could support employees who act as caregivers by allowing autonomy in their schedule so that

they can manage interrole conflict and stress (Brown and Pitt-Catsouphes, 2016). An employee who receives adequate support from his or her employer may experience less work-related stress. The results of this study may provide organizational leaders with the strategies they need to implement workplace flexibility policies that could help employees manage stress and create a balance between their personal and professional responsibilities.

Stress can adversely affect employees personal and professional life. Negative spillover between personal and professional commitment affects employee morale and productivity (Garg, 2015; Kim et al., 2017). Wells-Lepley et al. (2015) suggested that workplace flexibility practices support employees in managing their professional and personal roles, resulting in increased performance, job satisfaction, and employee productivity. In contrast, Bray et al. (2017) concluded that little evidence supported that an intervention targeting work-family conflict affected employee performance. Despite the contrasting views, Kossek and Thompson (2016) argued that because flexibility in the workplace allows employees to manage both personal and professional demands, organizations are in a position to recruit employees who value flexibility practices to allow them the ability to manage work-related stress while retaining valuable employees who experience life changes. Flexible work arrangements could lead to reduced stress and decreased work-family role conflict, which could lead to increased productivity and better quality of work.

Work-family conflict, improved well-being, and work-life balance. Workplace flexibility can benefit employees. Positive outcomes associated with workplace flexibility

include less conflict, better work-life balance, improvements in an employee's overall well-being (Deery & Jago, 2015; Su et al., 2016; Wheatley, 2017). Cicei (2015) argued that by introducing workplace flexibility, an organization could reduce negative interference between work and family. Cicei claimed that the use of flexible benefits could help employees alleviate strain and time conflicts. According to Erden Bayazit and Bayazit (2017), perceived family-supportive cultures predicted work-life conflict. Employees who experienced role conflicts were less satisfied with their jobs, which resulted in intentions to leave (Sturman & Walsh, 2014). Consequently, access to workplace flexibility will reduce the negative spillover from work-family conflict that employees experience between work engagements and family commitment.

A lack of suitable and practicable workplace flexibility policy contributes to work-family conflict, resulting in an unhappy workforce. Employees face challenges with issues related to work-life balance from pressing deadlines and heavy workloads. Adisa et al. (2016) argued that issues that employees experience at home may influence or affect their well-being and performance at work. Workplace inflexibility can contribute to problems in employees' professional life, which can affect their performance (Garg, 2015). Most employees experience a conflict that arises from integrating and balancing work and family commitment. For employees unable to achieve the desired balance between their professional and personal lives, their only choice may be resignation (Kar & Misra, 2013). Kar and Misra (2013) emphasized that employees remain unwilling to remain in an organization with a culture not supportive of family-friendly policies.

The development of work-life balance strategies, such as workplace flexibility, will provide a healthier lifestyle for employees and positively affect family and social relationships (Deery & Jago, 2015). Flexibility in the workplace, such as flextime and flexplace, may reduce perceived work-life conflict and positively affect employee well-being (Blount, 2015). Having work-family benefits including flexibility and schedule autonomy can promote a positive work-family culture (Fiksenbaum, 2014). Workplace flexibility would allow parents and caregivers the opportunity to participate in activities that occur during regular office work hours, such as school activities, volunteering, attending community events, and doctor's appointment with elderly parents or other family members.

Conflict between an employee's personal and professional responsibilities can be a source of stress. Some organizations offer formal programs that help their employees manage stress and balance work and familiar roles and expectations (Fiksenbaum, 2014). Examples of such programs include telecommuting, flextime, compressed work week, and on-site childcare (Allen et al., 2013; Kröll & Nüesch, 2017). Fiksenbaum discussed how an environment that promotes workplace flexibility would contribute to the organization's success in achieving its objectives. As many organizations face global competition, there is increasing pressures on employees to work long hours, causing work-family conflict (Bhandari & Kakkar, 2016). Working longer hours may lead to stress, burnout, and increased work-family conflict. Work-family programs would benefit the organization by promoting employees' well-being, performance, and productivity.

Gaps remain in the literature regarding the positive results of workplace flexibility and the challenges that organizations face in translating results from research to practice. Kossek and Thompson (2016) argued that workplace flexibility have both positives and negative consequences. According to Kossek and Thompson, researchers assume that the implementation of work-life flexibility is advantageous to employees, ignoring the concept that organizations may support flexibility in the workplace as an employee management tool to match the demand for labor with employer interests rather than for work-life reasons. Employees must be able to exercise some control over their tasks or schedule to realize the benefits of workplace flexibility (Christeen, 2015; Wheatley, 2017). Effective flexibility policies must satisfy the organization's productivity demands as well as employees' work-life need.

Although flexibility may help employees better manage role conflict, the existence of workplace flexibility does not guarantee a positive outcome for employees. According to Kossek and Thompson (2016), although it is necessary for an employee to have access and the choice to use workplace flexibility, the availability of flexibility does not guarantee positive results for the employee. Kossek and Thompson argued that employees may not experience work-life balance or well-being when employers force the amount of work or schedule on employees. Ogbonnaya, Daniels, Connolly, and van Veldhoven (2017) suggested that policies that organizations use to increase performance may not result in positive employee outcomes. Employees can achieve positive outcomes such as job satisfaction when they have control over their task or work schedule (Hwang & Ramadoss, 2017). Therefore, flexibility may help employees better manage role

conflict when employees have full control to restructure the amount of work and time they work to achieve positive outcomes. Which is the focus of this study.

While most business practitioners agree that implementing workplace flexibility and allowing employees to alternate between their professional and personal responsibilities may help them manage conflict and improve work-life balance, increase employee morale and spur the drive and employee commitment crucial for organizational success, work boundary and interrole conflict could be an issue. Buonocore and Russo (2013) suggested that workplace flexibility may increase interrole conflict. Employees may not realize the benefit of flexibility because they may experience other work-related pressures, such as the inability to separate work periods from nonwork related periods (Wright et al., 2014). Although the use of technology such as virtual private network (VPN), Skype, mobile email devices, and other collaborations and communication technology facilitates workplace flexibility that could aid employee autonomy, the use of these technologies may also diminish autonomy by increasing expectations of an employee's availability (Mazmanian, Orlikowski, & Yates, 2013). The availability of workplace flexibility could affect work boundary and create work-life conflict.

Though workplace flexibility could be a means to improve work-life balance, the effect of electronic devices on employee work-life boundaries is a concern (Gerdenitsch, Kubicek, & Korunka, 2015). The availability of flexibility in the workplace can increase the ranges of time and the number of locations that employees can attend to their work and nonwork demands (Kossek & Thompson, 2016). However, increasing the ranges of time and the number of locations that employees can attend to their work may increase

interrole conflict (Blount, 2015; Demerouti et al., 2014). Although mobile email devices offer employees flexibility and control over their schedule; yet, the use of the devices outside of their regular hours could contribute to their perceptions of interrole conflict (Wright et al., 2014). Such use of technologies reduces an employee's ability to disconnect from work (Mazmanian et al., 2013). According to Mazmanian et al. (2013), the use of mobile devices for work outside of their regular hours reduces autonomy.

Blount (2015) stated that managers in charge of globally distributed employees experience the additional problem of round-the-clock working across several time zones, dealing with requests that keep them working past their standard hours of work. Dumas and Sanchez-Burks (2015) suggested that separating employees' professional and private domains could help manage interrole conflict. It is crucial that employees separate work periods from non-work-related periods to realize the positive outcomes of workplace flexibility because continual connectivity could lead to work-life conflict. Effective implementation of workplace flexibility policies may offer employees better control of their schedule and help to them manage role responsibilities.

Control over work schedule. Some organizations provide formal programs that offer their employees control over work schedules, which helps in balancing work and family roles. Fiksenbaum (2014) discussed how a supportive work environment contributes to the organization's success. Fiksenbaum stressed that the lack of autonomy over schedule and interrole conflict contributes to general dissatisfaction in life and work engagements. Younger generations prefer more discretion and may even expect flexible work arrangements (Thompson et al., 2015). Hwang and Ramadoss (2017) showed that

high levels of job control increased job satisfaction. Control over work schedule is necessary because most families comprise of two working parents.

Dual-career couples experience conflicts in their professional and personal life. These conflicts include stress, interrole conflict, excess work (Garg, 2015). Fiksenbaum (2014) claimed that the conflict that individuals experience contributes to general dissatisfaction in their life and work engagements. Mahanta (2015) confirmed that there is a correlation between the availability of workplace flexibility and employee well-being. Mahanta reported that absenteeism increased significantly and productivity decreased when employees experience conflict between their professional and personal roles due to a lack of schedule control. Consequently, control over work schedules helps employees reorganize their work day to accommodate personal life commitments, which may help to reduce conflict.

Autonomy and control of work schedule could increase job satisfaction. Christeen (2015) stressed that autonomy is a central component in job satisfaction that reduces intent to leave. De Spiegelaere, Van Gyes, and Van Hootegem (2016) disclosed that autonomy results in increased employee engagement and innovative work behavior. According to De Spiegelaere et al., autonomy in work schedules, workplace, and worktime promotes employee engagement and other positive employee outcomes, such as innovative employee behavior. Wheatley (2017) stated that autonomy increased job satisfaction, and informal schedule control positively affects job satisfaction. Employees who can exercise control over their schedule experience less work-family conflict (Allen, 2017; Allen et al., 2013). Job autonomy promotes employee engagement and innovative

employee behavior (De Spiegelaere et al., 2016). Therefore, the availability of workplace flexibility could result in employee job satisfaction

Autonomy levels differ among employees. Managers reported the highest level of autonomy (Wheatley, 2017). According to Wheatley (2017), women and individuals occupying less skilled occupations reported less autonomy. Higher levels of autonomy resulted in an increased level of employee well-being and job satisfaction (De Spiegelaere et al., 2016; Wheatley, 2017). Schedule control is important to employees. Higher levels of autonomy benefits employees (Christeen, 2015; Wheatley, 2017). Yet, managers are reluctant to allow employees a greater level of control (Wheatley, 2017). Managers who do not embrace workplace flexibility may not realize the positive employee outcomes associated with workplace flexibility.

Barriers to workplace flexibility

The lack of formal organization policy and limited manager support contributes to barriers to workplace flexibility. According to Sweet et al. (2014), workplace flexibility policies are limited or absent in most organizations because many managers lack the strategies to implement flexibility policies. When present, workplace flexibility sometimes only remains accessible to high ranked employees (Goñi-Legaz & Ollo-López, 2015). Noury, Gand, and Sardas (2017) demonstrated that some organizations address work-life balance issues via informal arrangements instead of implementing a proper policy. Managers' resistance is a barrier to the widespread adoption of workplace flexibility (Blount, 2015). It is vital to equip managers with the essential skills necessary for the effective implementation and management of workplace flexibility.

Lack of manager support. Manager attitudes about workplace flexibility have the potential to improve family-friendly employment practices; yet, managers have limited strategies to encourage workplace flexibility to reduce employee turnover. The slow implementation of workplace flexibility is because of the lack of support from managers (Stout et al., 2013; Sweet, Pitt-Catsouphes, & James, 2017). Sweet et al. (2017) illustrated that a manager's exposure to training and experience in supervising employees, as well as perceived career benefits, predicted positive changes in attitudes. Sweet et al. advocated for flexibility in the workplace, stressing that training can influence manager attitudes about workplace flexibility with the potential of improving family-friendly employment practices. Managers who received training were significantly more likely to embrace workplace flexibility and engage in discussions related to work scheduling with employees and were more likely to increase the actual use of workplace flexibility among workers (Sweet et al., 2017). Preparing managers by offering training is a component in the implementation of workplace flexibility policies.

The adoption of workplace flexibility often depends on managers' perception of organizational and employee outcomes. Supervisors who perceive positive organizational and employee outcomes are more willing to embrace flexibility (Wells-Lepley et al., 2015). Stout et al. (2013) noted that managers have different attitudes toward workplace flexibility depending on the employees' perceived responsibility. Kocakülâh, Bryan, and Lynch (2018) reported that managers fear that employees may abuse the use of flexibility policies. Stout et al. argued that the lack of support is because managers have inadequate strategies to promote workplace flexibility and encourage employee work-life balance.

The promotion of workplace flexibility programs may positively influence managers' perception and individuals' responsibility level.

Ferguson, Carlson, and Kacmar (2015) concluded that support from the organization and supervisors could help employees achieve work-life balance. According to Hwang and Ramadoss (2017), increased levels of job control, as well as supervisor support, increases job satisfaction. The outcomes of a request for flexibility often depend on the manager's role (Cooper & Baird, 2015). Cooper and Baird further stressed that managers' personal experiences in workplace flexibility and their commitment level result in inconsistent organizational policies. Gözükara and Çolakoğlu (2015) noted that workplace flexibility practices are more effective with managers' support and when specified in the organization's policy. Galea et al. (2014) found that when management support workplace flexibility and when flexibility fits the organizational culture, it leads to positive outcomes. Cooper and Baird recommended that organizations provide practical and accessible policies. Organizations should offer managers training on the implementation and management of workplace flexibility.

The lack of manager's support often affects employee evaluation. Munsch (2016) observed that employees who required workplace flexibility experienced more negative evaluation than other employees. Munsch also added that employees who sought flexplace experienced more negative evaluation than those who requested flextime.

Sweet et al. (2014) found that managers' age and gender influence attitudes, with women managers expressing more interest in promoting access to workplace flexibility (Sweet et al., 2017). Employees of both gender who sought workplace flexibility for reasons related

to childcare experienced more favorable evaluation than those employees who requested workplace flexibility for other reasons (Munsch, 2016). Additionally, Munsch uncovered that male employees who requested for flexplace for reasons related to childcare experienced significant advantage over other male employees who made the same requests for other reasons. Male employees who requested workplace flexibility for childcare reasons experienced favorable treatment compared to female employees who made similar requests because their peers perceived the men as more respectable, likable, and committed. Organizational leaders must address employee's concerns regarding the use of flexibility programs and to promote a corporate culture that discourages workplace flexibility bias.

Flexibility stigma. Although many organizations implement policies and practices to encourage workplace flexibility, employees are sometimes hesitant to use these arrangements because of flexibility stigma. Some employees are apprehensive because of the belief that the use of flexibility practices may hinder their career progression (Munsch, 2016; Williams et al., 2013). Kossek and Lautsch (2017) found that employees from various professional background experience flexibility outcomes differently. Munsch et al. (2014) found that employees did not view all types of workplace flexibility similarly. Organizations should promote the use of flexibility by employees at all levels.

Employees at all levels should have equal access to workplace flexibility.

Kossek and Lautsch (2017) identified occupational status and flexibility experiences as a form of job inequality, concluding that upper-level employees have access to flexplace in

some organizations but are hardly accessible to lower-level employees. Organizational culture often influences the use of workplace flexibility because of flexibility stigma and perceived adverse consequences, such as a lack of career advancement (Goñi-Legaz & Ollo-López, 2015). Employees experience different consequences depending on their situation, and individual employees experience flexibility stigma differently according to the type of flexibility.

Flexibility bias and stigma varies by individual situation. The type of workplace, the type of flexibility requested by an employee, and the gender and parental status of the employee affects how an employee experience bias and stigma (Munsch, 2016).

Moreover, in most organizations, using the flexibility programs leads to penalties in wages, low-performance evaluations, and limited opportunities for promotions (Munsch, 2016; Williams et al., 2013; Goñi-Legaz & Ollo-López, 2015). For effective implementation, organizations must promote a culture that encourages the use of workplace flexibility at all levels.

Although access to workplace flexibility has increased, the use by employees has not. The use of workplace flexibility has not increased because of the stigma associated with its use. Despite the rise in flexibility programs, employee usage is low (Williams et al., 2013). Bal and De Lange (2015) stressed that an organization not only implement flexibility in the workplace but also ensure that employees take advantage of the practices. Employees may not use workplace flexibility programs because of fears of adverse repercussions (Williams et al., 2013). Williams et al. (2013) stressed that although the availability of a flexibility policy in an organization shows organizational

commitment to the welfare of their employees, flexibility stigma that is associated with class divisions and gender stereotypes prevent some employees from using them. Munsch et al. (2014) uncovered that increase in the use of flexibility by leadership decreased flexibility bias. Implementing a workplace flexibility policy that encourages senior managers to participate in flexibility could reduce the stigma and bias associated with its use.

Organization culture could influence the level of acceptance of workplace flexibility. Brescoll, Glass, and Sedlovskaya (2013) reported that flexibility stigma varies by organizational status; Coltrane, Miller, DeHaan, and Stewart (2013) reported variation by race; and Dodson (2013) showed variation by class. Williams et al. (2013) asserted that irrespective of the reason for requesting flexibility, women have trouble in obtaining approval when they request for compressed work week. Mothers occupying low-level positions also experience a similar problem when they request for flextime for reasons related to child care (Williams et al., 2013). An organizational culture that encourages the use of workplace flexibility could increase the level of acceptance.

Low level of acceptance may affect employee compensation. Formánková and Krízková (2015) reported less bargaining power with respect to compensation and benefits among mothers who work part-time, irrespective of their position. Munsch (2016) argued that although workplace flexibility could reduce workplace gender inequality, flexibility in the workplace is ambiguous and undefined in the United States. Idris (2014) noted that some types of workplace flexibility such as job share, flexplace, and flex career did not receive the same level of acceptance because of socioeconomic

and organization culture. The low level of acceptance could increase the perception of inequality.

Flexibility stigma varies by types of flexibility. Munsch (2016) found that participants in their study who requested flexplace experienced more bias than participants who requested flextime. Idris recommended that leaders should consider other factors in deciding types of workplace flexibility to implement. Idris also stated that implementing flexible policies such as job share, flex place, and flex career may be challenging because of the lack of accountability and trust among management and employees. Clarification of workplace flexibility policies and establishing a culture of trust and acceptance could help promote the use of workplace flexibility. The findings from this research could help to provide organizational leaders with strategies to implement such policies.

Leaders must reexamine their organizational culture and its effect on flexible work arrangement and employee retention. According to Munsch et al. (2014), increased use of flexibility by senior leadership decreased flexibility bias, encouraging the use of workplace flexibility among midlevel professional employees and promoting a culture that does not discriminate among part-time employees or employees who use flexible work arrangements may help to reduce flexibility bias. The implementation of workplace flexibility policy is not sufficient. Organizations should also encourage its use by employees at all levels. Further research into the benefits of workplace flexibility for employees and organization would help practitioners to bridge the implementation gap and help managers to embrace the growing need for flexibility in the workplace.

Transition

Included in Section 1 of this study is the introduction, as well as the background of the problem, the conceptual framework, and definitions of key terms relating to the study. Also in Section 1, is the problem statement, the purpose of the study, and research question. Section 1 concluded with a literature review from existing research studies on the topic of workplace flexibility, retention strategies, cost of turnover, work-family conflict, flexibility stigma, and other barriers to workplace flexibility. Section 2 includes a description of the doctoral study including my role as a researcher, the participants for the study, and the method and design of the research. Section 3 includes the presentation of the results of the study and how the findings could apply to business practice by presenting organizational leaders' strategies to increase workplace flexibility for increasing accountants' retention, the implications for social change, and recommendations for future studies.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 of this study includes a description of the doctoral study. Included in this section is the purpose of the study, my role as the researcher, the participants, the research method and research design, the population and sampling, ethical considerations relating to the study, and the data collection and analysis. Section 2 also includes approaches a researcher can take to enhance reliability and validity.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, single case study was to explore the strategies that corporate accounting and finance leaders implement to promote workplace flexibility for increasing accountants' retention. The targeted population consists of six corporate accounting and finance leaders in a communications, media, and automotive services company in the greater Atlanta, Georgia area, with a history of successfully implementing a workplace flexibility program to increase employee retention in their organization. Organizations can use the results of this study to improve accounting and finance leaders' understanding of the role that employee control over working hours has on reducing job strain and resignations.

Role of the Researcher

My role as a researcher was to present the participants' views in a clear, concise, and unbiased manner. The researcher should present the participant's everyday life, such as his or her responsibilities, routines, customs, norms, and values (Scott & Garner, 2014; Wincup, 2017). My role in this study was to recruit the study participants, collect the data, analyze and interpret the data, and report the findings of the study, as suggested by

Yin (2018). I conducted semistructured interviews using an interview protocol to gather information from the participants about their strategies for implementing workplace flexibility for increasing accountants' retention.

I am familiar with workplace flexibility because of my work as a consultant that involves working with accounting and finance professionals. However, I did not have a prior association with the participants, and I had no relationship with the research organization. Mason (2017) discussed how affiliation with participants or the study site could influence the results of a study. Wincup (2017) noted that researchers must understand and mitigate bias. Malone, Nicholl, and Tracey (2014) recommended that researchers identify ways to mitigate bias in the findings of their study. I mitigated bias in this study because I had no previous affiliation with the participants or the study site.

In preparation for this study, I completed the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Protecting Human Subject Research Participant training. Yin (2018) recommended that researchers should understand how to conduct an ethical study because there are ethical considerations in research that involves human participants. Marshall and Rossman (2016) and Wincup (2017) noted that researchers who involve human subjects in their study must maintain ethical standards. To maintain ethical standards, I abided by the principles and guidelines recommended in the Belmont Report (U.S. Department of Health and Human services [HHS], 1979) by treating my participants fairly, with respect, and by minimizing any potential risk or harm to the study participants. My knowledge from the NHI training and guidelines from the Belmont Report helped me to maintain high ethical standards by ensuring the well-being of the study participants.

I have preconceived ideas about the study topic because of my work in a corporate accounting and finance environment. I believe that existing workplace flexibility policies are inadequate. Therefore, I was mindful to mitigate bias. Researchers must be open-minded and be prepared to accept findings that challenge their working theory (Scott & Garner, 2014). Scholars could distort or suppress information and data they gather from a study to align with their ideas about the study topic (Yukl, 2013). Walliman (2017) recommended that researchers maintain scientific objectivity, stressing that the researchers should acknowledge and explain any possibility of bias. To mitigate bias Chan, Fung, and Chien (2013) suggested that researchers bracket their views. I bracketed my views about workplace flexibility. In bracketing, the researcher puts aside prior conceptions, biases, assumptions, beliefs, theories, or supposition that may influence or distort the study (Van Manen, 2014). Researchers use bracketing to observe the phenomenon without the influence of presumptions, previous experiences, and assumptions.

A scholar can bracket his or her thought processes or biases in a reflective journal during the study. Researchers journal the data collection process to capture their insights, interpretations, and reactions to help the analysis process (Chan, Teram, & Shaw, 2017; Walliman, 2017). A researcher should bracket his or her preconceived notions about the topic to mitigate bias and gain a fresh perspective from the participants (Yin, 2018). Consequently, I ensured that the reported results reflect the participants' viewpoints without any undue influence from my perceptions.

I used an interview protocol as a guide in the data collection procedure. The protocol contains the interview procedures, the interview questions, and general rules to follow during the interview (Yin, 2018). According to Silverman (2015) and Yin (2018), using an interview protocol ensures that the information the researcher collects answers the research question(s). Houghton, Casey, Shaw, and Murphy (2013) suggested following an interview protocol with a consistent procedure for all participants.

Silverman recommended not averting from the interview protocol. Therefore, I created and used an interview protocol that contains the interview questions in the same sequence. This ensured that each respondent provided the answers to my interview questions in the same sequence. I maintained consistency in the data collection by gathering similar types of information from each participant, and where necessary, asked follow-up questions to help answer the research question.

Participants

Participants for this study consisted of leaders from the corporate accounting and finance department of a single organization in the greater Atlanta, Georgia area.

Researchers use purposive selection to choose participants who have experience with the study phenomenon (Flick, 2015; Yin, 2018). The researcher determines sample selection according to the research question that he or she aims to answer (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). I only included leaders who could share their experience on the strategies their organizations use to increase workplace flexibility for increasing accountants' retention. Therefore, all participants met my selection criteria. Flick (2015) noted that researchers should include participants who can contribute their knowledge and opinions from their

life situations about the phenomenon that the researcher intends to study. Study criteria included organizational leaders who work in a supervisory or managerial capacity, such as individuals in director, or chief financial officer (CFO) positions who work full time and have experience in the implementation of workplace flexibility policies. The participants also make decisions relating to employees' use of flexibility in the workplace.

To gain access to the participants after receiving approval from Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB; approval number 05-07-18-0660928), I contacted the organization I choose via email to distribute the research invitations on my behalf. After the potential participants responded expressing interest in participating in the study, I confirmed their availability to participate and verified their eligibility according to the participant criteria, as recommended by Marshall and Rossman (2016). In my communication with the participants, I also explained the consent form and the interview protocol and assured participants that I will maintain their confidentiality. To establish a working relationship, I maintained communication via emails and telephone conferences to provide further clarification of the purpose of this study, my role as the researcher, and to address questions from the participants before the interview process began.

Research Method and Design

Research Methods

I chose the qualitative method for this study. The researcher is the instrument for data collection in the qualitative approach. Qualitative researchers collect data through

observation, focus groups, and interviews using probing questions to gather the most suitable and accurate response from the participants (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Walliman, 2017). Researchers can also gather information from the review of historical records, cultural artifacts, or document analysis (Scott & Garner, 2014). Researchers who use the qualitative approach focus on the participants in their natural conditions.

Qualitative researchers collect data to explore an issue at the location where the participants experience the issue. Researchers perform a qualitative study to explore a detailed understanding of the issue (Mason, 2017; Yin, 2018). A qualitative researcher can use detailed accounts to explain the complexities of actual situations to provide an understanding of the behaviors of the subject that the quantitative method may not capture (Walliman, 2017). The qualitative method was the best approach for this study because I wanted to explore workplace flexibility implementation strategies from multiple leaders' perspectives.

The quantitative approach was not suitable for this study. Researchers can use the quantitative approach to determine if one group performed better than another group (Scott & Garner, 2014). A quantitative researcher can predict, measure, evaluate, and generalize the findings of a study (Park & Park, 2016). Quantitative researchers test hypotheses and measure variables to achieve their research goals (Mason, 2017). In the quantitative method, questions must include the dependent and independent variables.

Researchers use the quantitative approach to understand the relationship between variables. Quantitative researchers define and isolate variables that they link together to form hypotheses to test the data they collect (Brannen, 2017). Researchers use the

quantitative method to analyze numeric scores that they express in numbers; however, this analysis does not offer a thorough comprehension of the context in which the data was gathered (Mason, 2017). Researchers using the quantitative approach rely on standardized research instruments to measure the comparable values (Walliman, 2017). I did not choose the quantitative method because I did not test a hypothesis or analyze numeric data to understand the relationship between variables.

In mixed methodology, researchers use the qualitative and quantitative research by combining the best features of both methods. Researchers apply the quantitative method to measure variables that differ in quantity (Gravetter & Forzano, 2018) with the qualitative method that generates in-depth information from an interaction with the participants (Walliman, 2017). Researchers use mixed methods in areas of study such as nursing because the intricacy of the phenomena may require data from many viewpoints, which offers a better understanding of the research problem (Sale, Lohfeld, & Brazil, 2002). Researchers use mixed methods to answer questions that the quantitative or qualitative approaches alone cannot answer.

Combining the qualitative and quantitative methods is costly and time consuming (Yin, 2018). In the mixed method, the researcher combines the qualitative and quantitative methodology to collect data from many viewpoints (Molina-Azorin, Bergh, Corley, & Ketchen, 2017; Turner, Cardinal, & Burton, 2017). Although the mixed method may offer a better comprehension of the phenomenon, it is complicated (Walliman, 2017). I did not use the mixed method because it was not necessary to

combine the quantitative data and interviews to explore leaders' strategies for workplace flexibility.

Research Design

The research design of this study was a single case study. A researcher decides which design to use depending on the purpose of the study and the nature of the problem (Walliman, 2017). A researcher should decide on a research design at the commencement of the project because according to Mason (2017), the research design helps guide the logic to answer the research question(s). Ethnography, grounded theory, and the narrative approach did not meet my needs for this study, but a case study provided an in-depth understanding of this research phenomenon.

Ethnography was not suitable for this study. Researchers use ethnography to observe the behaviors and daily practices of a cultural group (Small et al., 2014). Ethnographers study the way of life of a particular group of people (Park & Park, 2016). Ethnographic researchers focus on how people interact among themselves (Small et al., 2014). The researcher acts as the primary instrument to collect a full cycle of activity, which can take a year or more (Park & Park, 2016). Instead of imposing a theory, the researcher uses ethnography to observe how the subjects of the study interpret their behavior in their natural settings (Walliman, 2017). Ethnography was not suitable for this study as I did not observe behaviors and daily practices of a cultural group.

Additionally, grounded theory did not meet the needs of my study. Researchers use grounded theory to collect data to evolve a theory rather than to test an existing theory (Lewis, 2015; Walliman, 2017). Grounded theorists develop a theory based on

reciprocal phases of data collection, analysis, and theory building, where each phase informs the next stage (Walliman, 2017). In grounded theory, researchers use the information they collect to develop concepts and theoretical frameworks (Park & Park, 2016) and gradually refine the theory based on observations (Walliman, 2017). Grounded theory did not meet the needs for my research because the purpose of my research was not to create a theory based on a phenomenon.

The narrative design approach was not suitable for my study. Researchers use the narrative approach to extract themes and interactions from stories, accounts, and explanations of individuals' past and present situations based on their interpretations of events (Walliman, 2017). Researchers also use a narrative design to understand the participants' experience and to provide an account of the participants' daily life (Clandinin, 2016; Daiute, 2014). In the narrative approach, the researcher focusses on what the participants say rather than how it is said to reveal the suggestions that may lie beneath the narrative (Walliman, 2017). The narrative design was not suitable for my study because reconstructions of events and experiences was not necessary.

A case study provided a thorough understanding of leaders' strategies for workplace flexibility. Case study is common in qualitative research. Researchers use case study as a comprehensive approach to integrate multiple sources of information to offer a complete account of an intricate research phenomena in its real-life settings, or within the situation in which the activity takes place (Morgan, Pullon, Macdonald, McKinlay, & Gray, 2017). Researchers use the case study approach to apply multiple data collection methods to gain insights of processes and individuals (Lokke & Sorensen, 2014).

According to Yin (2018), the capability to use a variety of data source is one of the advantages of the case study approach. A case study was the most appropriate design to explore leaders' strategies for workplace flexibility.

A researcher must collect adequate information to ensure data saturation.

Researchers reach data saturation when they completely capture all the information that will answer the research question (Roy, Zvonkovic, Goldberg, Sharp, & LaRossa, 2015).

According to Fusch and Ness (2015), a researcher achieves data saturation to ensure research quality and content validity. The use of data saturation improves the validity of a study and the ability to replicate the study. To ensure attaining data saturation, I performed additional interviews until I captured all information to answer the research question, no additional themes emerged, and additional data did not provide new evidence.

Population and Sampling

Researchers use the purposive sampling technique to ensure participants meet selection criteria. A researcher uses purposive sampling when he or she chooses a sample in a deliberate manner (Yin, 2018). Purposive sampling is a nonprobability sampling approach that researchers can use to deliberately select participants because of their characteristics or experiences (Patton, 2015). Researchers use purposive sampling strategies with inclusion criteria to select individuals with knowledge that can yield the most relevant data and provide the most insight to answer the research question (Apostolopoulos & Liargovas, 2016; Patton, 2015; Roy et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). I chose to use purposive sampling to gain access to participants who (a) met study selection

criteria, (b) had the knowledge and experience regarding workplace flexibility, and (c) who could provide the information required to answer my research question. Participants included leaders who worked fulltime for a minimum of 1 year in managerial, director, or CFO positions; who had experience in the implementation of workplace flexibility policies; and who make decisions relating to employees' use of flexibility in the workplace. The objective was to select participants involved in decisions relating to employees' use of workplace flexibility.

A researcher should select a suitable interview site and setting. Ecker (2017) discussed the implications of selecting an appropriate research interview site. According to Ecker, an appropriate interview site provides the opportunity for a thorough understanding of the phenomenon, enhancing the interview process. Miller (2017) stressed that neglecting the choice of a proper interview setting may hinder the interview process. McCarthy (2016) stated that participants and researchers would benefit from a comfortable interview site where participants can disclose their experience. Ecker recommended an interview site with no distractions. I arranged appropriate settings with minimal disruption and locations that were convenient for my study participants.

The population for this study consisted of six corporate accounting and finance leaders. A population is the group of potential participants, and a sample represent subset of the entire population (Salkind, 2016). Sample size must be adequate and diverse to accomplish the goal of the study, which is to answer the research question (Patton, 2015). Although no standard exists for determining sample size in qualitative research, a researcher can determine his or her sample size by the information he or she needs to

answer the research question with sufficient confidence (Malterud, Siersma, & Guassora, 2016; Patton, 2015). A researcher can use a small sample size such as two or three to explore a phenomenon (Yin, 2018). The sample for this study was six participants.

It is vital for researchers to achieve data saturation. In qualitative studies, saturation is the primary determinant of the size of the sample (Malterud et al., 2016). A researcher achieves data saturation when the data they gather from additional interviews reveals no new information or themes (Roy et al., 2015; Walliman, 2017). I ensured data saturation in my study by continuing to interview participants until no new information or themes emerged from additional interviews.

Ethical Research

Ethical principles are essential in research. Researchers use informed consent to encourage ethical values (Patten & Newhart, 2017). To obtain informed consent, the researcher should discuss the objective of the study with the participants, clarify the role the participants play in the research, explain any potential benefits or harm to the participants, and disclose the option to withdraw from the study at any time without penalty (Patten & Newhart, 2017). Before beginning the interviews, each participant received an informed consent form. Walliman (2017) and Yin (2018) recommended that the informed consent form should be straightforward and easy to understand. Study participants had the option to withdraw from the study at any time by expressing a desire to withdraw in person, by email, or via telephone. I did not penalize participants in any way if they elected to withdraw from the study, and participants did not receive any type of compensation or incentives for their participation.

I completed the NIH certification to ensure proficiency with the ethical guidelines for protecting participants. The researcher must exercise ethical responsibility and ensure the well-being of the study participants (Chan et al., 2017). I will secure the data collected in a safe deposit box for 5 years to protect the confidentiality of participants and destroy the data after the 5 year retention period. The researcher must also protect the identity of the study participants (Morgan et al., 2017; Walliman, 2017). I used a pseudonym for each participant, as recommended by Chan et al. (2017), and ensured that the data are nonidentifiable by removing the name of the organization and participants' names and titles that could lead to identification.

Data Collection Instruments

I was the data collection instrument for this study. I recorded and transcribed the interviews, as recommended by Mason (2017) and Morgan et al. (2017). I gathered data from participants via face-to-face, semistructured interviews, consisting of open-ended interview questions (see Appendix A). Additionally, I obtained content analysis of publicly available company documents relating to the organization's workplace flexibility policies. In qualitative research, interviews are one of the most popular approaches to collect data (Mason, 2017). I created and followed an interview protocol, as recommended by Houghton et al. (2013), Silverman (2015), and Yin (2018; Appendix A). The interview protocol served as a guide in the data collection procedure to ensure consistency with each participant.

Researchers use methodological triangulation and member checking with each participant to enhance the reliability and validity of the data collection process. Scholars

use triangulation to support validity by merging information from multiple sources (Turner et al., 2017; Yin, 2018) and member checking for follow-up interviews (Ary, Jacobs, Irvine, & Walker, 2018; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Consequently, I reviewed publicly available company documentation related to workplace flexibility policies for triangulation, transcribed the interviews, and provided participants with a copy of the interview questions (see Appendix A) and a transcript of their response. I reviewed the transcripts with each participant to ensure that the data I gathered accurately reflects their viewpoints and conducted member checking to follow up with the participants to ask if they have additional information.

Data Collection Technique

I used face-to-face, semistructured interviews consisting of open-ended questions to gather my data and conducted an archival document analysis of publicly available documents of the organization's policies related to workplace flexibility. The researcher acquires a deep understanding of the participant's experience with semistructured interviews (Mason, 2017). The participants answered six interview questions during a 30-45-minute time frame (see Appendix A).

I used the interview questions to gather information from the participants and included follow-up questions where necessary. Qualitative researchers use interviews to gather data because the guided conversation offers the opportunity to collect in-depth information with follow-up questions (Mason, 2017; Yin, 2018). Participants can express their thoughts and opinions in interviews (Gravetter & Forzano, 2018). Other advantages of the interview data collection method include member checking that allows for

additional follow-up interviews (Apostolopoulos & Liargovas, 2016; Patton, 2015). Researchers who use semistructured interviews are able to concentrate on the details of the phenomenon because of the flexibility of the data collection approach and the freedom to explore unanticipated response from participants (Morgan et al., 2017). Participants also had the opportunity to review the transcript of their interviews to verify the accuracy of their response.

A limitation of the interview data collection method is that I relied on each participant to provide accurate answers to the interview questions. Although collecting qualitative data via interview offers the opportunity to gather more in-depth data relevant to the researcher's topic, the process may be costly and time consuming because the data are difficult to summarize (Gravetter & Forzano, 2018; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Another disadvantage of interviews is that the information participants provide can be open to misinterpretation by the researcher (Morgan et al., 2017). Participants may also provide inaccurate responses when a researcher fails to articulate the interview questions clearly (Yin, 2018). This study included member checking to confirm participants' response.

Researchers can gather data via document analysis and other methods of data collection. Document analysis is cost effective; less time-consuming than other data collection methods and allows a researcher to gain access to information that covers a long span of time, settings, and events (Patton, 2015; Yin, 2014). Researchers use document analysis as a backup data collection method (Yin, 2018). Researchers can gather detailed information from document analysis because documents often include

references and details of events (Mason, 2017). Some of the limitations of document analysis include a lack of access or limited access to relevant documents. Yin (2014) noted that organizational documents might not provide adequate information to answer the research question because they are not intended for research. However, researchers can use document analysis to compliment other data collection methods.

I used member checking to verify the accuracy and my interpretation of the data I collected. In qualitative research, scholars use member checking to allow the study participants to offer additional information that may enhance the reliability and validity of the study (Turner et al., 2017; Walliman, 2017). The researcher can enhance the credibility of the data and findings with triangulation. Triangulation consists of merging data from multiple sources (Mason, 2017; Turner et al., 2017). Triangulation is essential to enhance the credibility and validity of qualitative data because a researcher can use triangulation to mitigate bias that could result from using a single data source. I ensured triangulation by conducting interviews with participants, I followed up with participants about the accuracy of their responses, and conducted a review of the organization's documents relating to their workplace flexibility policy.

Data Organization Technique

I maintained an electronic research log and journal. The researcher takes notes during a field study and stores them efficiently for easy retrieval later (Flick, 2015). I stored the data I collected from the study participants first in chronological order and then by categories or major topics, as recommended by Yin (2018). I used Microsoft Word and an Excel spreadsheet to sort, pivot, cross reference, and for easy retrieval of essential

information. I protected my storage system by ensuring its safety is only accessible by a secure password as suggested by Lokke and Sorensen (2014). I will securely dispose all raw data after 5 years.

Data Analysis

Data analysis is an essential part of research. Ary et al. (2018) stressed that data analysis is the most complex phase of qualitative research. Mason (2017) noted the importance of a researcher familiarizing him or herself with a range of strategies to analyze the data they gather. Researchers analyze qualitative data by coding and condensing the data to uncover themes from the responses that the participants provided to address the research question (Blaikie & Priest, 2017). The researcher defines categories in the language of the data that represents a theme and uses the data analysis process to identify and test the categories (Blaikie & Priest, 2017; Scott & Garner, 2014). Consequently, I used the five-step method of data analysis recommended by Yin (2018) to examine, categorize, and code all my data to determine the patterns and themes that emerged from my interview with the participants to explore their workplace flexibility strategies.

I classified and coded the data collected into categories that relate to my research question. Researchers classify data into similar and dissimilar groups and examine the related features of the groups to gain insight into themes and patterns (Yin, 2018). I organized my data according to the categories in the literature review and Karasek's (1979) DCS conceptual framework.

I used Karasek's (1979) DCS conceptual framework to support my data interpretation process and used Yin's (2018) five-step approach to analyze my data. Therefore, I (a) compiled the data to form groupings, (b) disassembled the data to reduce them to themes, (c) reassembled the data grouping them according to my major themes, (d) I then checked the patterns against my transcripts and company workplace flexibility policy documentation to describe the purpose of the data, and (e) reviewed the data to draw conclusions. I used Karasek's (1979) DCS conceptual framework and the categories that emerged from my review of the literature to code and summarize the data. I subsequently used the findings from the data analysis including the themes, codes, and word frequencies related to my conceptual framework and the review of the literature to help me discover the strategies that corporate accounting and finance leaders implement to enable workplace flexibility to increase accountants' retention.

Researchers use methodological triangulation to enhance the credibility of their findings. Patton (2015) discussed the following four types of triangulation: data triangulation, which is the triangulation of data sources; investigator triangulation, which involves triangulation among different evaluators; theory triangulation, which consists of triangulation of perspectives to the same data set; and methodological triangulation, which is the triangulation of methods. I used semistructured interviews with participants, followed up with participants about their responses, and reviewed company documents to help explore multiple perspectives and identify the strategies that corporate accounting and finance leaders implement to enable workplace flexibility to increase accountants' retention.

I maintained a reflective journal for this study. A researcher uses a reflective journal to keep track of his or her thought processes, ongoing ideas, mistakes, fears, breakthroughs, as well as the participants' actions and conduct (Ary et al., 2018; Yin, 2018). I journaled my views and thoughts before and during the data collection process and kept track of my thought process while capturing the participants' actions and conduct in the data analysis phase.

I manually coded the data using Microsoft Word and Excel. A researcher can use Microsoft macros to perform coding and data retrieval. La Pelle (2004) recommended that researchers use Microsoft Word for basic qualitative data analysis. The researcher can use whatever method works best for him or her (Willig & Stainton-Rogers, 2017). I used a manual coding system to develop a better comprehension of the data that I gathered.

Upon reviewing the interview transcript, I used the comment function in Microsoft Word to develop a list of codes that aligned with my research question and Karasek's (1979) DCS conceptual framework. I copied the codes into Microsoft Excel and sorted them into categories to reveal the major themes, then color coded the themes in the Excel spreadsheet to allow for sorting and easy grouping. I used the key themes from the conceptual framework and the literature review to make the coding decisions. The researcher must make the coding decisions whether or not they use computer software (Yin, 2018). I identified the following themes in my literature review and within my conceptual framework: types of flexibility, employee retention, job satisfaction, organizational commitment, stress, productivity, quality of work, work-family conflict,

work-life balance, employee well-being, control over work schedule, barriers to workplace flexibility, and flexibility stigma. I used these key themes to code in the data analysis phase and added new themes where necessary.

Reliability and Validity

Qualitative researchers can increase the assurance of quality through ensuring reliability and validity in their study. Reliability is a necessary component of a study that researchers should consider when designing a study and analyzing the results (Ary et al., 2018; Cypress, 2017). The purpose of a qualitative study is to make sense of and identify patterns in words to build up a meaningful representation of the phenomenon without compromising its fullness (Leung, 2015). Cypress (2017) stressed that the reliability of a study is essential where the researcher's subjectivity can cloud the interpretation of the data. Validity is the suitability of the tools, the processes, and the data (Leung, 2015). Scholars use validity in qualitative research for trustworthiness (Ary et al., 2018). A researcher's trustworthiness could determine reliability (Mason, 2017). A researcher can only be assured of a valid study when he or she properly collects and interprets data, and the results accurately reflect and represent the phenomenon (Yin, 2018). I used member checking to confirm the accuracy of my data by allowing participants to verify their responses, as recommended by Flick (2014), Mason (2017), and Yin (2018). The accuracy of data is vital to the quality of a study and its results.

Dependability

Researchers can establish dependability through documenting the research procedure. Researchers can assure dependability by outlining an audit trail to check

procedural dependability in the data collection and recording process (Yin, 2018).

According to O'Brien, Harris, Beckman, Reed, and Cook (2014), researchers could achieve dependability through triangulation and an audit trail. I documented the data collection procedure sequentially, as recommended by O'Brien et al. (2014). Researchers document the data collection procedure to create an audit trail and to ensure the dependability and replicability of the results of a study.

Credibility

Credibility refers to the accuracy of data. Researchers can increase credibility when they use evidence that is free from error, bias, and distortion (Yin, 2018). Reliable research is credible, and the researcher's effort and ability will determine the credibility of a study (Cypress, 2017). I used member checking to decrease the misinterpretation of participants' views, as recommended by Ary et al. (2018), Marshall and Rossman (2016), and Yin (2018). I presented my interpretation and descriptions of the interviews and the analysis of company documentation to each participant to ensure that he or she can verify accuracy to achieve credibility.

Transferability

A research is transferable if the researcher can transfer the findings of the study to other settings. Leung (2015) and Ary et al. (2018) suggested systematic sampling, triangulation, proper documentation, and audit for transferability. Cypress (2017) noted that purposive sampling could enhance transferability by selecting participants using inclusion and exclusion criteria to ensure that participants share similar experiences.

Qualitative researchers can compare the results of a study to similar qualitative research to determine transferability.

Confirmability

A researcher uses confirmability to check that the data he or she gathers to support the results of the research. Scholars link the findings of the research to the data to achieve confirmability (Bailey & Bailey, 2017). Researchers also establish confirmability by confirming the results by another study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). A researcher can use a detailed research journal to create an audit trail and maintain a chain of evidence that leads to confirmability by linking the study results to the data (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Yin, 2018). I maintained a detailed research journal to demonstrate trustworthiness and the absence of bias to meet confirmability.

Data Saturation

Data saturation helps ensure quality in research. A researcher can attain data saturation when he or she cannot categorize any additional information for insight into the study and has enough data to replicate a study (Glaser & Strauss, 2017). Researchers achieve data saturation to enhance content validity and ensure the quality of the research (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Although there is no precise measurement or formula for determining data saturation (Glaser & Strauss, 2017), O'Brien et al. (2014) noted that a researcher can achieve data saturation by continuing to interview study participants until the additional information from participants reveals no new themes. I started with my sample and continued to interview participants until I captured all the information that

answered my research question, and no new information emerged from additional interviews.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2 of this study, I described the research, including my role as the researcher, the study participants, the research method and design, the population and sampling, ethical considerations, and the reliability and validity. Section 3, which is the final section of this study include the presentation of the results and how the findings could apply to business practice by presenting organizational leaders' strategies to increase workplace flexibility for increasing accountants' retention. This section also includes the implications for social change and recommendations for future studies.

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative, single case study was to explore the strategies that corporate accounting and finance leaders implement to promote workplace flexibility for increasing accountants' retention. In this section, I present the findings of my interviews with six corporate finance accounting leaders and the review of publicly available organizational policies. In my interviews with the organizational leaders and the review of the company's workplace flexibility guidelines, I found the strategies that corporate accounting and finance leaders implement to promote workplace flexibility, including (a) company-wide availability of flexibility with organizational support and commitment to work life balance from leadership, (b) tailored flexibility that is adaptable within the organization depending on employee/managers' need, (c) clear communication of expectations between employees and managers, (d) trust and cooperation among teams and managers, (e) employee performance evaluation based on results and deliverables and not hours worked, and (f) the use of technological advances to enhance team collaboration.

Presentation of the Findings

In presenting the findings of this study, I will discuss all of the themes that emerged from my semistructured interviews with six organizational leaders and the review of publicly available documentation relating to the company's workplace flexibility policy. This study included the following overarching research question: What

strategies do corporate accounting and finance leaders implement to promote workplace flexibility for increasing accountants' retention?

Theme 1: Company-wide Availability of Flexibility

The first theme was company-wide availability of workplace flexibility and leadership support and commitment to workplace flexibility. All of the study participants confirmed that workplace flexibility is available company-wide. Participant D expressed, "We have a company culture that condones workplace flexibility." Participant A stated, "The company as a whole is about work life balance". Participant C added, "The organization encourage us by offering more opportunities to do things that we truly value." We have more family time and can engage in wellness activities." According to Participant E, "Some of the company's strategies focus on encouraging employee wellness, and the use of flexibility in the workplace may indirectly promote employee wellbeing so that our employees can prevent or manage stress." Participant F agreed, stating, "Providing employees increased control of their schedule by allowing them to manage their time and priorities encourage work life balance, promotes wellness, and may also help reduce conflicting priorities between work and their personal responsibilities." Participants agreed on the level of support that the organization offers to increase wellbeing and the company's commitment to workplace flexibility.

The organization's archival documents supported this theme. The company's flexibility guidelines showed that the company placed importance on the value of its employees, describing employees as their "most important resource" and stating that providing workplace flexibility will help employees manage their personal and

professional responsibilities to improve the organization through higher retention, a productive workforce, and more engaged employees. Publicly available company documentation indicated that the organization promotes employee work-life balance and encourages employees to engage in activities outside of the office during traditional work hours, such as community service activities, volunteering opportunities, and exercising. The company's archival documents stated that workplace flexibility is available company-wide to all employees

Scholars who researched workplace flexibility concurred that the availability of flexibility in the workplace has become a part of managing employees in the modern work environment. An increasing number of employers are positively responding to employee demands for greater workplace flexibility to increase employee engagement, retention, morale, and commitment (De Spiegelaere et al., 2016). As the availability of flexibility in the workplace continues to become more important for the workforce, employers are implementing various types of flexibility options (Ciarniene & Vienazindiene, 2018). Baum and Kabst (2013) revealed that employees ranked other benefits such as workplace flexibility over salary, and employees sometimes preferred a reduction in salary for increased flexibility. Barzoki and Rezaei (2017) reported that perceived organizational support can increase employee job satisfaction. The availability of flexibility can influence an employee's decision to remain in an organization (Kossivi et al., 2016; Kröll & Nüesch, 2017). Ma (2018) found that workplace flexibility positively influenced job satisfaction through perceived organizational support, recommending that companies enhance employee's perception of organization support by implementing workplace flexibility. Leaders realize that the use of alternative work schedules can help to reduce employee turnover (Kröll & Nüesch, 2017). The leadership commitment and support for work life balance and employee wellbeing theme aligns with the current literature in workplace flexibility.

The leadership commitment and support for work life balance and employee wellbeing theme also align with Karasek's (1979) DCS conceptual framework. Karasek demonstrated that workplace inflexibility through limited freedom to determine work schedules results in job strain. Organizational leaders could help employees reduce their job strain.

Theme 2: Tailored and Adaptable Flexibility

Flexibility strategies are increasingly diversified and comprehensive. The organization encouraged managers to structure flexibility options to meet employees' requirements. Participant A explained that "It is all very specific to your area and your group. Different job roles require different time in the office versus out and remote." Participant B added that "The company as a whole advise employees about the existing flexibility policy, but each group is different in terms of how it works." Participant B further explained that,

The VP that I report to sent out communication to the rest of the team informing everyone what their options are if they choose to work from home one day each week, and also informed them about the summer hours.

The company has different flexibility options. Participant B added that "The people in AP, for example, work 10 hours a day or something like that and get a day off. Each time

there is an opportunity for change, all employees are informed." All participants confirmed that all employees have the option to work from home one day a week and that flexibility is available company-wide.

The company encourages managers to arrange specific available option with employees. For example, not all groups offer the summer hours schedule. Participant F clarified that "If you want to participate in summer hours you take half a day off on that Friday, but you must have put in those 4 hours earlier in the week to make up for the half day." According to Participant A, "The baseline is you are allowed to work one day a week from home. Some people work the same day every week, but the specific arrangement is different for each employee." Participant B explained that "Some people come in a little earlier, some people stay a little later, some people skip their lunch. Employees have different options to make up the time. Like I know one lady, she only takes 30 minutes for lunch." Participant C added, "There are a variety of options for flexible work. Employees have many options depending on their role and workload." Participant C continued, "Flexibility is available company-wide, but the specific arrangement is made between the individual employee and their manager so that the employee and their manager can determine the option that is suitable for the group and the employee." Participant F clarified that "Flexibility is encouraged on both sides so if the manager wants an employee to come to the office because something came up, they can arrange that with the employee." Managers recognize that every employee's circumstance is different. Participant E explained that "There is no one size fit all in the flexibility policy." Managers let employees know that the company offers a variety of

flexible options. I found that some employees have access to additional options depending on their responsibility or the workload of the group.

All employees have the option of working from home 1 day a week. According to Participant A, "You have to work it out with your supervisor which day and you have to make sure there is coverage in the office, but it is still pretty individual." Participant A further clarified saying, "I have people on my team who does it more than one day a week because of traffic or because they have little children. Sometimes 2 or 3 days a week depending on what the workload is." Participant F stated that "Some people believe that flexibility may increase to 2 days a week but like I said, because it is different in each group, some people probably already do two days a week depending on their responsibility and position." I found that the current policy is effective and both managers and employees are contented. Many participants implied that managers were happy with the current flexibility policy and permitted some employees to increase their work from home days. The participants also suggested that the organization may increase the policy to 2 days a week.

Managers also have the discretion to ask employees to work in the office. For example, a situation may arise in which an employee or their manager need to adjust their schedule to support the rest of the team. Participant A confirmed this, explaining, "I know me specifically, I am pretty flexible, but if something comes up where you need to be in the office and it is your work from home day, we want you in the office for that." Participant C clarified that "Depending on the group and the task they perform; some people are not restricted so they can continue to work from home even at month end."

Participant C further stated that "For employees whose busy day is Day 2 or Day 3 of the month-end calendar, they would not be able to work from home those two days." All participants agreed that employees and managers could revise existing arrangements at any time as their individual or professional needs change. Flexibility options will vary at a manager's discretion depending on staffing needs to accommodate peak times and high-volume workload.

The theme of tailored flexibility was a topic in the organization's flexibility guideline documentation. Company documentation attested to the sentiments echoed by the participants. Company documentation specified that flexibility would vary by function, team, and individual employee's role. Employees follow the schedule they agree upon with their managers and update team members on last-minute changes that may arise. According to company guidelines from archival documents, flexibility will vary depending on the tasks and nature of work that the group performs. The documents further stipulated that some functions are performed best in the office during regular office hours. The objective, according to the guidelines, is to create a consistent arrangement so that managers can accommodate the needs of an employee and still provide opportunities for teams to continue to work together efficiently.

Archival documents corroborated the theme of tailored flexibility. The organization's flexibility guidelines encourage employees to work with their managers to develop flexible work schedules that meet the organizations' commitments and employees' wants and needs. Company documentation also revealed that managers might require their team members to work in the office on certain days because of the nature of

the work during that period such as coverage for high volume workloads or accounting month-end reporting. The documents further indicate that employees can start work earlier or later than the regular working hours. For example, an early start at 6:30 a.m. or a later start of 10:00 a.m. would allow employees extra lunchtime to take care of their personal responsibilities rather than the typical lunch hour, and allow employees to make up the time later in the evening. That way, employees can meet their professional goals and accommodate personal obligations.

Tailored flexibility is not a popular subject in the existing literature. Although the acceptance of workplace flexibility continues to increase in developing economies, uncertainty remains regarding how they affect employee work-life balance and if employees benefit from them (Erden et al., 2017). Research surrounding workplace flexibility is mostly one-sided, taking the perspective of the employee or employer, while often overlooking the overall implications of implementing flexibility initiatives (Kossek & Thompson, 2016). Some researchers who focused on the employee's or employer's perspective found conflicting evidence regarding the benefits and effectiveness of workplace flexibility (Bray et al., 2017; Friedman & Westring, 2015). Friedman and Westring (2015) proposed that organizations complement work-life policies with other initiatives to empower their employees to manage their professional and personal responsibilities. Ma (2018) recommended that organizations formulate diverse workplace flexibility policies according to individual employee circumstance. Researchers who examine the effects of workplace flexibility on employees and organizational outcomes should further explore customized flexibility. Organizational leaders can use tailored

flexibility to customize flexibility options to accomplish organizational goals while accommodating individual employee's need.

The theme of tailored flexibility is in alignment with Karasek's (1979) DCS conceptual framework. According to Karasek, an employee's control over his or her job decreases job strain. Organizations can customize their flexibility policy to allow employees a greater level of control over where and when they perform their work to help reduce the strain that employees experience. Employees who perceive that they have control over their work may experience less strain.

Theme 3: Clear Communication of Expectations

Managers communicate expectations to employees to help them meet the company's goal. Participant E commented that "Managers communicate expectations to the employees." Participant C supported this comment stating, "We also have certain deadlines, you know, dates that tasks need to be completed." Participant E commented that the company ask employees with children to take their children to childcare or arrange for someone to come to their home to care for their children. Participant A added, "If you have children, we expect them to be at childcare not for you to have to take care of them and do your work. So that is another thing that is defined in the agreement." Participant A continued to explain that employees who work from home cannot block their calendar because they are out of the office. According to Participant A, "If you are working, you should be available for meetings. So, don't show that you are busy that day because you should be available for regular meetings. We want people to be available."

Participant F commented saying "We establish expectations and timeframes for deliverables and communicate this to individual employees." Participant E also commented that "You have control of your work because you know what you are expected to do so you can manage your schedule around your doctor's appointment, run errands during lunch or anything that comes up." Participant A noted, "Employees can better manage their schedule when they have a clear understanding of expectations, so really it is about communicating what the expectations are. Participant C added that "If you do your job and are doing it well, no one asks questions. You can come into work; no one is watching the clock, no one is saying she came in at 9, and she is leaving at 4." I found that employees who meet their manager's expectation have schedule autonomy. Participant C further explained that "You come and go; you do your job. You are in control, and you are treated like an adult. It is kind of nice to have the flexibility, it is a huge, huge benefit. It really is." Managers and employees can develop trust between each other by clearly communicating expectations. Employees are also able to prioritize their task when managers communicate expectations.

Archival documents supported the theme of communication of expectations between employees and managers. Company documentation highlighted the importance of clear communication, recommending that employees initiate a conversation regarding workplace flexibility with their managers and agree on suitable schedules with team members. The company offers guidelines and a framework for flexibility that specified that flexibility options do not change performance expectations. Managers receive training and resources to help them define expectations and discuss overtime needs with

employees in advance when necessary. Company archival documents specified that flexibility is available company-wide, to all employees irrespective of their family circumstance or lifestyle but managers should communicate expectations to employees.

Company documentation recommended that employees ensure that they have a quiet atmosphere to work, make telephone calls, and conduct video conferences without distractions or background noise. Archival documentation also recommended that employees should not withdraw their children from daycare or discontinue other child care arrangements because it would affect their ability to be efficient when they work from home. Company guidelines advise employees to set their work at home hours on outlook calendar to alert team members that they are working elsewhere.

Scholars who have examined workplace flexibility discussed the importance of communication, noting that the lack of communication and clarification of expectations may be a barrier to workplace flexibility. Sweet et al. (2017) demonstrated that managers who engage in discussions related to work scheduling with employees were more likely to embrace workplace flexibility and were more likely to increase the actual use of flexibility. Azar, Khan, and Van Eerde (2018) described how time management behavior, such as communication of expectations, can improve workplace flexibility and reduce employee work-life conflict. Jena and Memon (2018) concluded that open communication plays a positive role in fostering employees' trust in their managers and the organization. It was clear the communication is an effective tool and one of the enablers of workplace flexibility.

The theme of communication of expectations between employees and managers aligns with Karasek's (1979) DCS conceptual framework. Karasek determined that control over work is a factor influencing job strain. Clear communication of expectations offer employees some degree of control over their work. According to Karasek's strain hypothesis, job control (the autonomy that an employee can exercise) determines an employee's strain level. I found that employees perceived that they have control of their responsibility and schedules because managers communicated the organizational goals and individual employee's expectation. Organizational leaders can implement workplace flexibility to increase employee autonomy.

Theme 4: Trust and Cooperation

I found that participants displayed a high level of trust for the employees.

Participant E noted, "We encourage camaraderie and collaboration among our team to accomplish our task." Participant A shared their experience stating, "Someone in my team is at home today because her daughter has a golf tournament at some point, so it is easier for her to drop her off and come back home instead of coming all the way here."

Participants felt that employees had a degree of control over their work schedule because individuals established a level of trust and their managers were cooperative. Participant F shared that "Managers are cooperative and offer autonomy and some control over work schedule." Participant C stated that "Employees and managers can revise existing arrangements at any time as their individual or professional needs change." According to Participant B, "Everyone communicates the hours they are working to their manager because sometimes things may happen, and people may change their hours and managers

understand that." Participant D clarified that "Arrangements that employees make with their managers is not set in stone as it may change as needed." Participant A continued, "Like for me, I don't have a set day that I work from home." I learned the importance of trust and cooperation among individual employee, teams, and managers from my interview with the participants.

Archival documents stated that the organization trains managers to offer autonomy, to display trust, and to make sure that they are approachable. The company acknowledged in their employee guidelines that managers are key to a successful workplace flexibility program, so the company provides tools and resources to assist managers on how to manage workplace flexibility. Company documentation also indicated that the company trains managers to build leadership and team management skills, to demonstrate trust for their team members, and to demonstrate that they care about employees' wellbeing. The organization also provides employee resources to encourage them to be accountable to their team members and managers and to speak out if they feel that their existing arrangement is not working well.

Scholars have indicated that trust and cooperation from managers was one of the barriers to workplace flexibility. Idris (2014) found that implementing flexible policies may be challenging because of the lack of accountability and trust among management and employees. Blount (2015) concluded that lack of trust and opportunities for collaboration are some of the limitations of flexibility in the workplace. Beutell and O'Hare (2018) stressed that employees with established trusting relationships with their managers experienced greater feelings of schedule control. Manager's concerns relating

to workplace flexibility practices, such as flexplace or telecommuting, are the result of lack of trust, team culture, and collaboration. Organizational leaders can promote the use of workplace flexibility by clarifying their workplace flexibility policies and establishing a culture of trust and acceptance.

Although the theme of trust and cooperation among teams and managers does not directly align with Karasek's (1979) DCS conceptual framework, the control component of the framework is indirectly related to this theme. Managers who display trust, permitting employees autonomy and the responsibility to perform their task at their discretion, empowers the employees with a level of control. Employees who have some control over their work schedules may experience less strain.

Theme 5: Performance Evaluation Based on Results

The participants expressed that employees do not experience any pressure or strain from working specific hours each day or week because managers evaluate employees on results and their accomplishments. Participant A described the leadership stating, "My boss who is not here anymore use to say I don't care if you work 40 hours a week, I don't care if you work 70 hours a week, I don't care if you work 25 hours a week." Participant A continued to explain that leaders focus on task with comments like "This is what I expect you to get done. Get it done the best way. That is what I want. I am judging you based on what you do not how much time you are sitting at your desk." According to participants, the company focus on employees' accomplishment rather than the hours employees work. Some participants expressed that they are more productive when they work from home. Participant E shared, "I accomplish more when I work from

home because I have no distractions like people walking up to your desk all the time to chat with you." Similarly, Participant C stated, "I am more productive because I don't have to get up, shower, dress, and get in the car and come all the way to the office and then fight that traffic to get back home." Participant D emphasized, "I have not heard of anyone having issues with people getting their work done on time and being productive while they work from home." Participant C added, "Some people skip lunch when they work from home and just stay online longer. Some participants indicated that they find themselves working longer hours when they work from home.

Participants expressed the importance of feeling in control. Participant F stated, "People feel in control because managers place less emphasis on time employees spend in the office and focus more on task accomplishment." Participant D added, "Some departments use performance metrics. Employees have more control of their schedule because they know what it takes to get the job done." According to Participant E, "We have certain metrics that we have to meet, we have scorecards that we are accountable for, we have to complete tasks in a timely manner, so we have some control. All these things come into play." Participant E stressed that If management perceived that an employee was taking advantage of the flexibility options, then it will be taken away. Participant A concluded, "Employees have control of their schedule. It is between someone and their supervisor how it gets set up and used. If they have performance issues, then we don't let people work from home typically." Participant E shared that managers focus on goals and deliverables. All the participants indicated that they understand their role in contributing to the success of the organization. I found that

participants felt it was easier to manage workplace flexibility when managers allow employees control of their schedule knowing that the results that employees accomplish was more important than where, when, or how they perform their jobs.

Archival documents support the theme of performance evaluation based on results and deliverables instead of hours that employees work. Company flexibility guidelines focused on accountability, holding employees accountable for what they do, not where they do it. The company encourages managers to evaluate each employee based solely on their accomplishments, results, and performance. The company encourages managers not to deny flexibility because of their personal preference or because they want the team together all the time; however, managers may deny or limit an employee's participation in workplace flexibility according to the employee's overall performance or efficiency.

Documentation also specified that eligibility for workplace flexibility options might change according to employee performance. The company elaborated that the use of workplace flexibility should not adversely affect employee performance or the team's ability to collaborate or communicate with each other. Company documentation stipulated that if workplace flexibility negatively impacts an employee's performance or the team's effectiveness it may be restricted or limited.

The theme of performance evaluation based on results and deliverables instead of hours worked aligns with current literature. Blount (2015) reported that the popularity of workplace flexibility signifies a change in how work is done, where it is done, and how employers evaluate employees. Jena and Memon (2018) concluded that organizations that adopt workplace flexibility as part of their organizational culture could enhance their

employee engagement and increase employee productivity. Although Munsch (2016) found that organizations face challenges managing workplace and measuring the productivity of employees who work from a remote location, data from my interview revealed that employees are just as productive when they work from a remote location.

Organizations can measure employee productivity against expectations, such as deliverables and goals. Leaders should establish expectations and provide the tools that employees require to meet their goals irrespective of where they work. Berkery et al. (2017) debated the relationship between workplace flexibility, and employee productivity. The use of workplace flexibility policies benefits the organization through an increase in productivity and enhance performance (Bae & Goodman, 2014; Fiksenbaum, 2014; Giovanis, 2018). Organizational leaders can apply workplace flexibility as a productivity tool to align the interest of the employees with the organizational goals.

The theme of performance evaluation based on results and deliverables instead of hours aligns with Karasek's (1979) DCS conceptual framework. Organizations that evaluate employees on results rather than the hours employees work offer the employees control over where and how they perform their jobs; hence, employees may experience less job strain. Effective management of workplace flexibility would depend on a management's willingness to appraise employees on their productivity and the quality of their deliverables rather than the number of hours they work.

Theme 6: The Use of Technology to Enhance Collaboration

Participants appreciate the various tools and technology that the organization provides to encourage employees to collaborate and remain connected when they work from home to ensure that workplace flexibility is transparent. Participant D commented," We use a variety of collaborative platforms, and we have the infrastructures and systems in place to help us communicate with employees when they work remotely." Participant A added, "We use IM a lot, you know, instant messaging so we want to be able to contact people quickly if we need to." Participant F clarified stating, "employees don't check in, when they work from home, but we have resources and online collaboration tools such as office 365 which includes Skype, offering managers some visibility with time tracking." All participants expressed satisfaction for the variety of technological tools that allowed them to perform their jobs conveniently around their individual schedules. Participants also commented on how the use of technology saved them time from not having to travel. Participant F commented, "I can connect to the network via VPN and get a lot done at home because I am not commuting to and from work." Participant C explained, we have the technological tools we need to work from home, managers are supportive, and the people are getting their work done, so I don't see any barriers." Participant E added, "In my group, we have a shared drive, and you can go and look at the box in the shared drive. So, say if the reconciliations aren't posted out there, you would know who is not doing their work." Participant A concluded, "For me it just saves me, you know, getting up getting dressed and then spending 45 minutes to an hour in traffic." Participant A expressed that the availability of flexibility saves time.

Organizations can manage workplace flexibility through the effective use of technology and other collaboration tools. The theme of technological advances to enhance team collaboration aligns with the review of organizational archival documents. Company guidelines confirmed that the organization provides employees with the tools and technology that they need to perform their jobs. The company also provides managers with effective tools to manage workplace flexibility-related issues.

Scholars discussed the advantages and barriers of the use of technology to promote flexibility. Although some researchers including Blount (2015), Gerdenitsch, et al., (2015), and Mazmanian et al., (2013) raised concern that the use of technology could increase interrole conflict, affect work boundary, diminish autonomy, and increase expectations of an employee's availability, Kossek and Thompson (2016) insisted that employees can use technology to attend to their work and nonwork demands at multiple locations, at any time. Organizations can use technology as a tool to effectively manage workplace flexibility.

The use of technological advances to enhance team collaboration theme is not within the scope of Karasek's (1979) DCS conceptual framework. However, leaders can use technological tools to increase employee autonomy and control. Organizational leaders can use advances in technology to enhance their flexibility strategy, team collaboration, and employee productivity.

Applications to Professional Practice

Flexibility in the workplace is no longer perceived as a benefit to employees.

Leaders are beginning to recognize the potential benefits of workplace flexibility to the

organization, such as increased performance (Giovanis, 2018). Organizations are beginning to implement more flexibility options (Ciarniene & Vienazindiene, 2018). Organizational leaders can use the findings from this study to enhance their existing flexibility policies or to implement effective workplace flexibility policies that may help to foster greater collaboration and improve performance to support their overall business goals.

In my interview with corporate finance and accounting leaders and my review of company archival documents, I uncovered six themes related to the strategies that the leaders use to promote workplace flexibility. I used Karasek's (1979) DCS conceptual framework to ground this study. The majority of the themes from the interviews and document review align with the control and strain hypothesis of Karasek's DCS conceptual framework. Participants agreed that the exercise of autonomy and control that they enjoyed with flexibility in the workplace was a tangible benefit that enabled them to manage their personal and professional responsibilities. Many participants had been with the company for a number of years and expressed that they would not give up flexibility if they did not have to. I found that participants did not discuss retention in detail because they did not experience high turnover. Kröll and Nüesch (2017) reported that the availability of workplace flexibility increases job satisfaction, improves employee retention, and could reduce employee turnover. Organizations can use workplace flexibility to achieve competitive advantage through an increase in productivity and employee performance (Giovanis, 2018). Organizations could also reduce the costs associated with recruitment and retention (Kotey, 2017). Other organizational leaders and policymakers can apply the findings and recommendations from this study to implement or improve workplace flexibility to meet employees' needs and achieve organizational objectives.

Implications for Social Change

The results of this study may contribute to positive social change by providing leaders with effective strategies to increase workplace flexibility that could reduce the strain that employees experience in finding a balance between their professional and personal obligations. Organizational leaders can use workplace flexibility to reduce perceived work-life conflict and positively affect employee well-being (Blount, 2015). Organizational leaders can use workplace flexibility and schedule autonomy to promote a positive work-family culture (Fiksenbaum, 2014). Organizations can develop work-life balance strategies, such as workplace flexibility, to provide a healthier lifestyle for employees and positively affect their family and social relationships (Deery & Jago, 2015). Leaders can use flexibility in the workplace to help employees create a balance between their job and other responsibilities, allowing them to become better citizens that can positively contribute not only to their immediate and extended family but the local community. The local community could benefit by providing a better quality of life for children with employed parents and workers who act as primary caregivers for their family members. Employees who have control over the time and place they work will also be able to participate in local events such as volunteering opportunities that benefit the local community.

Recommendations for Action

Workplace flexibility has become a desirable benefit to employees. Corporate accounting and finance professionals voluntarily leave organizations because of lack of workplace flexibility. Corporate accounting and finance professionals often work long and unscheduled hours due to various reporting deadlines, performing critical financial tasks which contribute to organizational success (Seyrek & Turan, 2017). Employees who work long and unscheduled hours experience an increased level of stress and workfamily role conflict (Buchheit et al., 2016). Organizational leaders can use the workplace flexibility strategies identified in this study to implement policies that could benefit professionals engaged in the finance and accounting field.

First, I recommend that organizational leaders who do not have a current workplace flexibility policy use some of the themes identified in this study to implement a formal flexibility policy that may help to reduce the stress and strain that employees experience in attempting to balance their personal and professional life. Organizations can use flexibility to help reduce the cost associated with employee turnover. Concerns relating to workplace flexibility practices are the result of lack of formal company policy and guidelines, lack of organizational support, lack of trust between managers and employees, and lack of employee collaboration and team culture.

My second recommendation is that organizational leaders should consider implementing customized flexibility options that would accommodate employees' needs and meet the organization's business goals. Every employee's circumstance is different, and individuals go through multiple life stages. Organizations can mitigate some of the

perceived limitations of workplace flexibility and reduce management's apprehension by implementing effective flexibility policies that managers and employees can adapt to fit their mutual requirements.

Organizational leaders can use the results from this study to formulate comprehensive and equitable workplace flexibility policies that recognize each employee's unique needs. I found that employees value flexibility and autonomy in their work schedule. Leaders must understand that financial compensation alone is not a suitable strategy to encourage employee retention (Idris, 2014). I found that workplace flexibility could benefit the employees and the organization. Organizational leaders can implement effective flexibility policy that would allow employees to have the control to make last minute changes to their work schedule and ensure that managers have the training and resources to support their teams, with a mindset of establishing and monitoring expectations, and a willingness to give up control. I will share the results of this study with the participants and publish the findings in regional finance and accounting and HR publications.

Recommendations for Further Research

The findings from this study were from workplace flexibility data gathered from the organizational leader's perspective. Although according to existing literature (Christeen, 2015; Kossivi et al., 2016; Yamaguchi et al., 2016), an employee's decision to remain with an organization could depend on the availability of flexibility in the workplace; the participants who mentioned retention did not discuss the subject in detail. Further researchers should focus on the effects or correlation between the availability of

customized flexibility schedules on employee retention within corporate and finance and accounting professionals. I recommend that future researchers explore employees' representations and experiences of flexible working. This study was specific to leaders in the Atlanta, GA area. Future researchers should also consider the population in other geographical locations.

Reflections

My experience as a Walden University doctoral student was worthwhile. The experience was challenging yet rewarding. I have enhanced my academic writing ability and acquired valuable research skills that have changed my perspective in the understanding and interpretation of research findings. My interest and desire for schedule flexibility resulted in my choice to work as a consultant. Although I had preconceived notions on the topic of workplace flexibility, I curtailed my personal opinion and judgment by bracketing my preconceived notions. I now have a better understanding of flexibility in the workplace and a greater awareness of the need for positive social change.

I have gained a new perspective on the value of flexibility in our personal and professional lives from my experience in this study. My success in this doctoral program is the outcome of the university's use of technology to support its online learning model that allow students the flexibility to complete their studies anywhere, any time. Walden uses various learning and collaboration platforms to offer adults in the workforce the flexibility to pursue their doctoral degree without commuting to a location to take instructions during specific times. Students are engaged by supportive faculty and staff

and remain connected as they meet colleagues, faculty, and academic staff during periodic mandatory residencies where they experience a sense of comradery and work as a team with other cohorts. With the flexibility that Walden offers, motivated students are productive and successful because they apply the expectations that the university provides in the course outline and syllabi, the due dates for the weekly discussion posts, and the due dates for assignments to create a study schedule that compliments their employment responsibilities and family obligations. More traditional universities are beginning to support distant learning, and I believe that organizations also have the capability to offer motivated employees the flexibility to be successful and productive in their personal and professional lives.

Conclusion

Organizational leaders are beginning to realize that there is an opportunity to increase competitive advantage by offering workplace flexibility. Employees and organizations can benefit from flexibility in the workplace. The advances in modern technology such as virtual private network (VPN), SharePoint, Skype, and other collaborative tools means workplace flexibility is achievable. Many employees desire the choice to work where and when they want. Organizations that implement workplace flexibility policies may stand a greater chance of attracting, engaging, and retaining top talents.

Employees in search of untraditional work schedules range from those that switch jobs to reduce their daily commute or to work from home, to those who accept a decrease in pay for flexibility. It is important for organizations to create a culture that offers

workplace flexibility to increase competitive advantage. Management can use the findings from this study to customize their flexibility options to accommodate individual employee's circumstances leaving room and opportunity for change with life cycles. Managers' and employees' trust will determine the effectiveness and success of flexibility policies. Mutual trust will increase as employees begin to display responsibility and accountability, and managers start to demonstrate their willingness to give up control by offering employees increased autonomy and support.

References

- Abii, F. E., Ogula, D. C. N., & Rose, J. M. (2013). Effects of individual and organizational factors on the turnover intentions of information technology professionals. *International Journal of Management, 30*, 740-756. Retrieved from http://www.theijm.com/
- Adisa, T. A., Osabutey, E. L. C., & Gbadamosi, G. (2016). Understanding the causes and consequences of work-family conflict. *Employee Relations*, *38*, 770-788. doi:10.1108/er-11-2015-0211
- Al Mamun, C. A., & Hasan, M. N. (2017). Factors affecting employee turnover and sound retention strategies in the business organization: A conceptual view.

 *Problems and Perspectives in Management, 15, 63-71.

 doi:10.21511/ppm.15(1).2017.06
- Ali, S., & Farooqi, Y. A. (2014). Effect of work overload on job satisfaction, effect of job satisfaction on employee performance, and employee engagement: A case of public sector university of Gujranwala Division. *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Sciences and Engineering*, 5(8), 23-30. Retrieved from http://www.ijmse.org
- Allen, J. B. (2017). The psychology of happiness in the modern world: A social psychological approach. New York, NY: Springer.
- Allen, T. D., Johnson, R. C., Kiburz, K. M., & Shockley, K. M. (2013). Work-family conflict and flexible work arrangements: Deconstructing flexibility. *Personnel Psychology*, *66*, 345-376. doi:10.1111/peps.12012

- Anderson, A. J., Kaplan, S. A., & Vega, R. P. (2015). The impact of telework on emotional experience: When, and for whom, does telework improve daily affective well-being? *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 24, 882-897. doi:10.1080/1359432X.2014.966086
- Apostolopoulos, N., & Liargovas, P. (2016). Regional parameters and solar energy enterprises: Purposive sampling and group AHP approach. *International Journal of Energy Sector Management*, 10, 19-37. doi:10.1108/IJESM-11-2014-0009
- Armache, J. (2013). A kinder and gentler workplace: A path to employees' retention and organizational productivity. *Conflict Resolution & Negotiation Journal*, 2, 87-98. Retrieved from http://www.franklinpublishing.net/conflictresolution.html
- Ary, D., Jacobs, L. C., Irvine, C. K. S., & Walker, D. (2018). *Introduction to research in education*. Boston, MA: Cengage
- Azar, S., Khan, A., & Van Eerde, W. (2018). Modelling linkages between flexible work arrangements' use and organizational outcomes. *Journal of Business Research*, 91, 134-143. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.06.004
- Bae, K. B., & Goodman, D. (2014). The influence of family-friendly policies on turnover and performance in South Korea. *Public Personnel Management*, *43*, 520-542. doi:10.1177/0091026014536055
- Bailey, C. A., & Bailey, C. R. (2017). A guide to qualitative field research (3rd ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Bal, P. M., & De Lange, A. H. (2015). From flexibility human resource management to employee engagement and perceived job performance across the lifespan: A

- multisample study. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 88, 126-154. doi:10.1111/joop.12082
- Bal Taştan, S. (2016). Predicting job strain with psychological hardiness, organizational support, job control, and work overload: An evaluation of Karasek's DCS model.

 *Postmodern Openings, 7, 107-130. doi:10.18662/po/2016.0701.07
- Bal Taştan, S. (2014a). Predicting psychological strain with job demands and organizational injustice through the implications of job demand-control model and fairness theory. *Postmodern Openings Journal*, *5*(4), 111-143. doi:10.18662/po/2014.0504.09
- Bal Taştan, S. (2014b). The theoretical implications of job demands resources model: A research study on the relations of job demands, supervisor support and job autonomy with work engagement. *Atatürk University Journal of Economics and Administrative Sciences*, 28(4), 149-195. Retrieved from https://www.atauni.edu.tr/
- Barzoki, A. S., & Rezaei, A. (2017). Relationship between perceived organizational support, organizational citizenship behavior, organizational trust and turnover intentions: An empirical case study. *International Journal of Productivity and Quality Management*, 21(3), 273. doi:10.1504/ijpqm.2017.084456
- Baum, M., & Kabst, R. (2013). How to attract applicants in the Atlantic versus the Asia-Pacific region? A cross-national analysis on China, India, Germany, and Hungary.

 Journal of World Business, 48(2), 175-185. doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2012.07.002

- Beck, C. D. (2014). Antecedents of servant leadership: A mixed methods study. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 21, 299-314. doi:10.1177/1548051814529993
- Benito-Osorio, D., Muñoz-Aguado, L., & Villar, C. (2014). The impact of family and work-life balance policies on the performance of Spanish listed companies.

 M@n@gement, 17(4), 214-236. doi:10.3917/mana.174.0214
- Berkery, E., Morley, M. J., Tiernan, S., Purtill, H., & Parry, E. (2017). On the uptake of flexible working arrangements and the association with human resource and organizational performance outcomes. *European Management Review*, *14*(2), 165-183. doi:10.1111/emre.12103
- Beutell, N., & O'Hare, M. (2018). Work schedule and work schedule control fit: Work-family conflict, work-family synergy, gender, and satisfaction. *SSRN Journal*, *1*, 8-9. doi:10.2139/ssrn.3105671
- Bhandari, A., & Kakkar, J. (2016). A study on work-life balance in the Indian service sector from a gender perspective. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *15*, 19-36. Retrieved from http://www.ssrn.com
- Biermeier-Hanson, B., Liu, M., & Dickson, M. W. (2015). Alternate views of global leadership: Applying global leadership perspectives to leading global teams. New York, NY: Springer.
- Blaikie, N., & Priest, J. (2017). *Social research: Paradigms in action*. Malden, MA: Polity Press.
- Bloom, N., Liang, J., Roberts, J., & Ying, Z. J. (2013). Does working from home work?

- Evidence from a Chinese experiment. NBER Macroeconomics Annual, 1, 1-41.

 Retrieved from http://www.ssrn.com
- Blount, Y. (2015). Pondering the fault lines of anywhere working (telework, telecommuting): A literature review. *Foundations and Trends in Information Systems*, 1(3), 163-276. doi:10.1561/2900000001
- Brannen, J. (Ed). (2017). *Mixing methods: Qualitative and quantitative research*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Bray, J. W., Hinde, J. M., Kaiser, D. J., Mills, M. J., Karuntzos, G. T., Genadek, K. R., & Hurtado, D. A. (2017). Effects of a flexibility / support intervention on work performance. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 1-8. doi:10.1177/0890117117696244
- Brescoll, V. L., Glass, J., & Sedlovskaya, A. (2013). Ask and ye shall receive? The dynamics of employer-provided flexible work options and the need for public policy. *Journal of Social Issues*, 69, 367-388. doi:10.1111/josi.12019
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press
- Brown, M., & Pitt-Catsouphes, M. (2016). A mediational model of workplace flexibility, work–family conflict, and perceived stress among caregivers of older adults.

 *Community, Work, & Family, 19, 379-395. doi:10.1080/13668803.2015.1034656
- Brutus, S., Anguinis, H., & Wassmer, U. (2013). Self-reported limitations and future direction in scholarly reports: Analysis and recommendations. *Journal of Management*, *39*, 48-75. doi:10.1177/0149206312455245

- Bryant, P. C., & Allen, D. G. (2013). Compensation, benefits and employee turnover: HR strategies for retaining top talent. *Compensation & Benefits Review*, 45(3), 171-175. doi:10.1177/0886368713494342
- Buchheit, S., Dalton, D. W., Harp, N. L., & Hollingsworth, C. W. (2016). A contemporary analysis of accounting professionals' work-life balance. *Accounting Horizons*, 30, 41-62. doi:10.2308/acch-51262
- Buonocore, F., & Russo, M. (2013). Reducing the effects of work-family conflict on job satisfaction: The kind of commitment matters. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 23, 91-108. doi:10.1111/j.1748-8583.2011.00187.x
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2016). *Employee tenure summary*. Retrieved from https://www.bls.gov
- Caillier, J. (2016). Does satisfaction with family-friendly programs reduce turnover? A panel study conducted in U.S. federal agencies. *Public Personnel Management*, 45(3), 1-24. doi:10.1177/0091026016652424
- Carvalho, V. S., & Chambel, M. J. (2013). Work-to-family enrichment and employees' well-being: High performance work system and job characteristics. *Social Indicators Research*, 119, 373-387. doi:10.1007/s11205-013-0475-8
- Chan, T. S., Teram, E., & Shaw, I. (2017). Balancing methodological rigor and the needs of research participants: A debate on alternative approaches to sensitive research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(2), 260-270. doi:10.1177/1049732315605272

- Chan, Z. C., Fung, Y. L., & Chien, W. T. (2013). Bracketing in phenomenology: Only undertaken in the data collection and analysis process? *The Qualitative**Report, 18(30), 1-9. Retrieved from https://www.tgr.com
- Chou, K. L., & Cheung, K. C. K. (2013). Family-friendly policies in the workplace and their effect on work–life conflicts in Hong Kong. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 24, 3872-3885.

 doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.781529
- Christeen, G. (2015). Retaining professional workers: What makes them stay? *Employee**Relations, 37, 102-121. doi:10.1108/ER-10-2013-0151
- Chung, H. (2017). National-level family policies and workers' access to schedule control in a European comparative perspective: crowding out or in, and for whom?

 Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis: Research and Practice, 1-22.

 doi:10.1080/13876988.2017.1353745
- Chung, H., & Tijdens, K. (2013). Working timeflexibility components and working time regimes in Europe:Using company level data across 21 countries. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 24, 1418-1434 doi:10.1080/09585192.2012.712544
- Ciarniene, R., & Vienazindiene, M. (2018). Flexible work arrangements from generation and gender perspectives: Evidence from Lithuania. *Engineering Economics*, 29(1). doi:10.5755/j01.ee.29.1.19247

- Cicei, C. (2015). Managing the work & family roles. Does flexibility reduce the negative interference? An exploratory study. *Management Dynamics in the Knowledge Economy*, *3*, 717-727. Retrieved from http://www.managementdynamics.com
- Clandinin, D. (2016). *Engaging in narrative inquiry* (2nd ed.). Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- Coenen, M., & Kok, R. A. (2014). Workplace flexibility and new product development performance: The role of telework and flexible work schedules. *European Management Journal*, 32, 564-576. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2013.12.003
- Coltrane, S., Miller, E. C., DeHaan, T., & Stewart, L. (2013). Fathers and the flexibility stigma. *Journal of Social Issues*, 69(2), 279-302. doi:10.1111/josi.12015
- Cooper, R., & Baird, M. (2015). Bringing the right to request flexible working arrangements to life: From policies to practices. *Employee Relations*, *37*, 568-581. doi:10.1108/er-07-2014-0085
- Cypress, B. S. (2017). Rigor or reliability and validity in qualitative research. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, 36(4), 253-263. doi:10.1097/dcc.0000000000000000053
- Daiute, C. (2014). *Narrative inquiry*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- De Spiegelaere, S., Van Gyes, G., & Van Hootegem, G. (2016). Not all autonomy is the same. Different dimensions of job autonomy and their relation to work engagement & innovative work behavior. *Human Factors and Ergonomics in Manufacturing & Service Industries*, 26, 515-527. doi:10.1002/hfm.20666

- Deery, M., & Jago, L. (2015). Revisiting talent management, work-life balance, and retention strategies. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality*Management, 27, 453-472. doi:10.1108/ijchm-12-2013-0538
- Demerouti, E., Derks, D., ten Brummelhuis, L. L., & Bakker, A. B. (2014). New ways of working: Impact on working conditions, work–family balance, and well-being. In C. Korunka & P. Hoonakker (Eds.), *The impact of ICT on quality of working life* (pp. 123-141). New York, NY: Springer.
- DeVaney, S. A. (2015). Understanding the Millennial generation. *Journal of Financial*Service Professionals, 69(6), 11-14. Retrieved from

 https://national.societyoffsp.org/
- Dodson, L. (2013). Stereotyping low-wage mothers who have work and family conflicts. *Journal of Social Issues*, 69(2), 257-278. doi:10.1111/josi.12014
- Dumas, T. L., & Sanchez-Burks, J. (2015). The professional, the personal, and the ideal worker: Pressures and objectives shaping the boundary between life domains. *Academy of Management Annals*, *9*, 803-843. doi:10.1080/19416520.2015.1028810
- Ecker, J. (2017). A reflexive inquiry on the effect of place on research interviews conducted with homeless and vulnerably housed individuals. *Qualitative Social Research*, 18, 149-168. doi:10.17169/fqs-18.1.2706
- Erden Bayazit, Z., & Bayazit, M. (2017). How do flexible work arrangements alleviate work-family-conflict? The roles of flexibility i-deals and family-supportive

- cultures. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 1-31. doi:10.1080/09585192.2017.1278615
- Fang, M., Su, J. H., Wang, T., & He, R. J. (2017). Employee turnover prediction based on state-transition and semi-Markov: A case study of Chinese state-owned enterprise.

 ITM Web of Conferences, 12, 04023. doi:10.1051/itmconf/20171204023
- Fazili, A. I., & Khan, O. F. (2017). A study on the impact of ICT on work life balance. Life Science Journal, 14(5), 1-4. doi:10.7537/marslsj140517.01.
- Ferguson, M., Carlson, D., & Kacmar, K. M. (2015). Flexing work boundaries: The spillover and crossover of workplace support. *Personnel Psychology*, 68, 581-614. doi:10.1111/peps.12084
- Fiksenbaum, L. M. (2014). Supportive work-family environments: Implications for work–family conflict and well-being. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 25, 653-672. doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.796314
- Flick, U. (2014). An introduction to qualitative research (5th ed.). London, UK: Sage.
- Flick, U. (2015). Introducing research methodology: A beginner's guide to doing a research project. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Formánková, L., & Krízková, A. (2015). Flexibility trap- the effects of flexible working on the position of female professionals & managers within a corporate environment. *Gender in Management*, 30(3), 225-238. doi:10.1108/GM-03-2014-0027

- Frankel, L. P. (2016). Employee retention: Seven common-sense ways to keep your star Millennials. *Employment Relations Today*, 42(4), 49-56. doi:10.1002/ert.21539
- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91(2), 184-194. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00085.x
- Friedman, S. D., & Westring, A. (2015). Empowering individuals to integrate work and life: Insights for management development. *Journal of Management Development*, 34(3), 299-315. doi:10.1108/JMD-11-2012-0144
- Fry, J., Scammell, J., & Barker, S. (2017). Drowning in muddied waters or swimming downstream? A critical analysis of literature reviewing in a phenomenological study through an exploration of the lifeworld, reflexivity, and role of the researcher. *Indo-Pacific Journal of Phenomenology*, 17, 1-12. doi:10.1080/20797222.2017.1293355
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu
- Gajendran, R. S., Harrison, D. A., & Delaney-Klinger, K. (2015). Are telecommuters remotely good citizens? Unpacking telecommuting's effects on performance via I deals and job resources. *Personnel Psychology*, 68, 353-393. doi:10.1111/peps.12082
- Galea, C., Houkes, I., & De Rijk, A. (2014). An insider's point of view: How a system of flexible working hours helps employees to strike a proper balance between work

- and personal life. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 25, 1090-1111. doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.816862
- Garg, N. (2015). Organizational role stress in dual-career couples: Mediating the relationship between high performance work practices, employee engagement, and job satisfaction. *SSRN Journal*, *13*(3), 43-69. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2694991
- Gerdenitsch, C., Kubicek, B., & Korunka, C. (2015). Control in flexible working arrangements. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, *14*(2), 61-69. doi:10.1027/1866-5888/a000121
- Giovanis, E. (2018). The relationship between flexible employment arrangements and workplace performance in Great Britain. *International Journal of Manpower*, 39(1), 51-70. doi:10.1108/ijm-04-2016-0083
- Glaser, B., & Strauss, A. (2017). Discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Goñi-Legaz, S., & Ollo-López, A. (2015). Factors that determine the use of flexible work arrangement practices in Spain. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, *36*, 463-476. doi:10.1007/s10834-014-9408-1
- Goodman, E. (2013). Telecommuting: Is it right for you and your business? *Journal of Property Management*, 78(4), 16-20. Retrieved from http://www.irem.org/resources/jpm

- Gözükara, İ., & Çolakoğlu, N. (2015). The impact of manager support and work family conflict on job satisfaction. *Business Management Dynamics*, *5*(6), 13-25.

 Retrieved from http://bmdynamics.com
- Gravetter, F. J., & Forzano, L. A. B. (2018). Research methods for the behavioral sciences. (6th ed.). Boston, MA: Cengage.
- Greer, T. W., & Payne, S. C. (2014). Overcoming telework challenges: Outcomes of successful telework strategies. *The Psychologist-Manager Journal*, *17*(2), 87-111. doi:10.1037/mgr0000014
- Grönlund, A., & Öun, I. (2017). In search of family-friendly careers? Professional strategies, work conditions and gender differences in work-family conflict.

 Community, Work & Family, 21, 87-105. doi:10.1080/13668803.2017.1375460
- Haar, J. M., Russo, M., Suñe, A., & Ollier-Malaterre, A. (2014). Outcomes of work-life balance on job satisfaction, life satisfaction, and mental health: A study across seven cultures. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 85, 361-373. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2014.08.010
- Halcomb, E., & Hickman, L. (2015). Mixed methods research. *Nursing Standard*, 29, 41-47. doi:10.7748/ns.29.32.41.e8858
- Harden, G., Boakye, K. G., & Ryan, S. (2016). Turnover intention of technology professionals: A social exchange theory perspective. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 1-10. doi:10.1080/08874417.2016.1236356

- Hazak, A., Männasoo, K., & Virkebau, M. (2017). Effects of work arrangements on creative R & D work outcomes. *Eastern European Economics*, 55, 500-521. doi:10.1080/00128775.2017.1381567
- Hill, E. J., Grzywacz, J. G., Allen, S., Blanchard, V. L., Matz-Costa, C., Shulkin, S., &
 Pitt-Catsouphes, M. (2008). Defining and conceptualizing workplace flexibility.
 Community, Work, and Family, 11(2), 149-163. doi:10.1080/13668800802024678
- Hobfoll, S. E. (1989). Conservation of resources: A new attempt at conceptualizing stress. *American Psychologist*, 44, 513-524. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.44.3.513
- Houghton, C. E., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Students' experiences of implementing clinical skills in the real world of practice. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 22, 1961-1969. doi:10.1111/jocn.12014
- Hwang, W., & Ramadoss, K. (2017). The job demands—control—support model and job satisfaction across gender. *Journal of Family Issues*, *38*(1), 52-72. doi:10.1177/0192513x16647983
- Idris, A. (2014). Flexible working as an employee retention strategy in developing countries. *Journal of Management Research*, *14*(2), 71-86. Retrieved from http://www.indianjournals.com
- Ismail, H. N., & Gali, N. (2016). Relationships among performance appraisal satisfaction, work–family conflict and job stress. *Journal of Management & Organization*, 23, 356-372. doi:10.1017/jmo.2016.15
- Jain, M. (2013). Employee attrition-causes and remedies. *Journal of Social Welfare and Management*, 5(2), 69-74. Retrieved from http://www.rfppl.org

- Jena, L. K., & Memon, N. Z. (2018). Does workplace flexibility usher innovation? A moderated mediation model on the enablers of innovative workplace behavior.
 Global Journal of Flexible Systems Management, 19(1), 5-17.
 doi:10.1007/s40171-017-0170-8
- Johnson, J., & Hall, E. (1988). Strain, work place social support, and cardiovascular disease: Cross-sectional study of a random sample of the Swedish working population. *American Journal of Public Health*, 78, 1336-1342. doi:10.2105/AJPH.78.10.1336
- Kang, Y. (2013). Is family-friendly policy (FFP) working in the private sector of South Korea? *Springer Plus*, 2, 1-11. doi:10.1186/2193-1801-2-561
- Kar, S., & Misra, K. C. (2013). Nexus between work life balance practices and employee retention: The mediating effect of a supportive culture. *Asian Social Science*, 9(11), 63-69. doi:10.5539/ass.v9n11p63
- Karasek, R. A. (1979). Job demands, job decision latitude, and mental strain:Implications for job redesign. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 24(2), 285-308.doi:10.2307/2392498
- Karatepe, O. M. (2013). High-performance work practices and hotel employee performance: The mediation of work engagement. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 32, 132-140. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2012.05.003
- Karimi, R., Omar, Z. B., Alipour, F., & Karimi, Z. (2014). The influence of role overload, role conflict and role ambiguity on occupational stress among nurses in selected Iranian hospitals. *International Journal of Asian Social Science*, 4, 34-40.

- Retrieved from http://www.aessweb.com
- Kim, H., Kim, Y., & Kim, D. L. (2017). Negative work-family/family work spillover and demand for flexible work arrangements: The moderating roles of parenthood and gender. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 1-24. doi:10.1080/09585192.2016.1278252
- Kirkwood, A., & Price, L. (2013). Examining some assumptions and limitations of research on the effects of emerging technologies for teaching and learning in higher education. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 44, 536-543. doi:10.1111/bjet.12049
- Kocakülâh, M. C., Bryan, T. G., & Lynch, S. (2018). Effects of absenteeism on company productivity, efficiency, and profitability. *Business and Economic Research*, 8(1), 115-135. doi:10.5296/ber.v8i1.12395
- Kossek, E. & Thompson, R. (2016). Workplace flexibility: Integrating employer and employee perspectives to close the research-practice implementation gap In Oxford Handbook of Work and Family. Eby, L. T. & Allen, T. D., (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of work and family* (pp. 255-269). New York, NY: Oxford Press.
- Kossek, E. E., Thompson, R. J., & Lautsch, B. A. (2015). Balanced workplace flexibility:

 Avoiding the traps. *California Management Review*, *57*(4), 5-25.

 doi:10.1525/cmr.2015.57.4.5

- Kossek, E., & Lautsch, B. (2017). Work-life flexibility for whom? Occupational status and work-life inequality in upper, middle, and lower level jobs. *Academy of Management Annals*. doi:10.5465/annals.2016.0059
- Kossivi, B., Xu, M., & Kalgora, B. (2016). Study on determining factors of employee retention. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, *4*(5), 261 268. doi:10.4236/jss.2016.45029
- Kotey, B. A. (2017). Flexible working arrangements and strategic positions in SMEs. *Personnel Review*, 46, 355-370. doi:10.1108/PR-04-2015-0089
- Kröll, C., & Nüesch, S. (2017). The effects of flexible work practices on employee attitudes: Evidence from a large-scale panel study in Germany. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 1-21. doi:10.1080/09585192.2017.1289548
- La Pelle, N. (2004). Simplifying qualitative data analysis using general purpose software tools. *Field Methods*, 16(1), 85-108. doi:10.1177/1525822x03259227
- Latunde, Y. C. (2017). Research in parental involvement: methods and strategies for education and psychology. New York, NY: Springer.
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research.

 **Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4, 324-327. doi:10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, *16*, 473-474. doi:10.1177/1524839915580941

- Lokke, A., & Sorensen, P. D. (2014). Theory testing using case studies. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 12, 66-74. Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com
- Ma, X. (2018). The effect mechanism of work flexibility on employee job satisfaction.

 **Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 1053, 012105. doi:10.1088/1742-6596/1053/1/012105
- Mahanta, M. (2015). Exploring the relationship between emotional intelligence and work-life balance in the service industry. *IUP Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *14*(2), 42-60. Retrieved from https://ssrn.com
- Malik, M. I., Sajjad, M., Hyder, S., Ahmad, M. S., Ahmed, J., & Hussain, S. (2013). Role overload: A cause of diminishing employee retention and productivity. *M. E. Journal of Scientific Research*, 18, 1573-1577.
 doi:10.5829/idosi.mejsr.2013.18.11.12457
- Malone, H., Nicholl, H., & Tracey, C. (2014). Awareness and minimization of systematic bias in research. *British Journal of Nursing*, 23, 279-282. doi:10.12968/bjon.2014.23.5.279
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1753-1760. doi:10.1177/1049732315617444
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Marshall, M. (2017). *Live without stress: How to enjoy the journey*. Los Alamitos, CA: Piper Press
- Mason, J. (2017). Qualitative researching. London, UK: Sage.
- Matos, K., & Galinsky, E. (2014). *National study of employers*. New York, NY: Families and Work Institute.
- Mazmanian, M., Orlikowski, W. J., & Yates, J. (2013). The autonomy paradox: The implications of mobile email devices for knowledge professional. *Organizational Science*, *24*, 1337-1357. doi:10.1287/orsc.1120.0806
- McCarthy, G. A. (2016). Adolescents in second language qualitative research: Managing the interview interface. *New Zealand Studies in Applied Linguistics*, 22, 37-51

 Retrieved from https://alanz.blogs.auckland.ac.nz/files/2016/01/NZSAL-2016-221.pdf#page=41
- McGrandle, J., & Ohemeng, F. L. K. (2017). The conundrum of absenteeism in the Canadian public service: A wicked problem perspective. *Canadian Public Administration*, 60, 215-240. doi:10.1111/capa.12213
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Michielsens, E., Bingham, C., & Clarke, L. (2013). Managing diversity through flexible work arrangements: Management perspectives. *Employee Relations*, *36*, 49-69. doi:10.1108/er-06-2012-0048

- Miller, T. (2017). Telling the difficult things: Creating spaces for disclosure, rapport and "collusion" in qualitative interviews. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 61, 81-86. doi:0.1016/j.wsif.2016.07.005
- Molina-Azorin, J. F., Bergh, D. D., Corley, G. K., & Ketchen, D. J. (2017). Mixed methods in the organizational sciences: Taking stock and moving forward.
 Organizational Research Methods, 20(2), 179-192.
 doi:10.1177/1094428116687026
- Morgan, S. J., Pullon, S. R., Macdonald, L. M., McKinlay, E. M., & Gray, B. V. (2017).

 Case study observational research: a framework for conducting case study research where observation data are the focus. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27, 1060-1068. doi:10.1177/1049732316649160
- Mulvaney, M. A. (2014). Leave programs /Time off and work-stress family employee benefits programs, organizational commitment, and self-efficacy among municipal employees. *Public Personnel Management*, *43*, 459-489. doi:10.1177/0091026014529661
- Munsch, C. L. (2016). Flexible Work, flexible penalties: The effect of gender, childcare, and type of request on the flexibility bias. *Social Forces*, *94*, 1567-1591. doi:10.1093/sf/sov122
- Munsch, C. L., Ridgeway, C. L., & Williams, J. C. (2014). Pluralistic ignorance and the flexibility bias: Understanding and mitigating flextime and flexplace bias at work.

 Work and Occupations, 41, 40-62. doi:10.1177/073088841351589

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Secretary, The National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research* (45 CFR 46). Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- Noury, L., Gand, S., & Sardas, J. C. (2017). Tackling the work-life balance challenge in professional service firms: The impact of projects, organizing, and service characteristics. *Journal of Professions and Organization*, 4(2), 149-178. doi:10.1093/jpo/jow010
- O'Brien, B. C., Harris, I. B., Beckman, T. J., Reed, D. A., & Cook, D. A. (2014).

 Standards for reporting qualitative research: A synthesis of recommendations.

 Academic Medicine, 89, 1245-1251. doi:10.1097/ACM.0000000000000388
- Ogbonnaya, C., Daniels, K., Connolly, S., & van Veldhoven, M. (2017). Integrated and isolated impact of high-performance work practices on employee health and wellbeing: A comparative study. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 22, 98-114. doi:10.1037/ocp0000027
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, *3*, 1-7. doi:10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Patten, M. L., & Newhart, M. (2017). *Understanding research methods: An overview of the essentials*. New York, NY: Routledge.

- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Pleck, J. H. (1977). The work-family role system. *Social Problems*, 24, 417-427. doi:10.1525/sp.1977.24.4.03a00040
- Rineer, J. R., Truxillo, D. M., Bodner, T. E., Hammer, L. B., & Kraner, M. A. (2017).

 The moderating effect of perceived organizational support on the relationships between organizational justice and objective measures of cardiovascular health.

 European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology, 26, 399-410.

 doi:10.1080/1359432x.2016.1277207
- Roy, K., Zvonkovic, A., Goldberg, A., Sharp, E., & LaRossa, R. (2015). Sampling richness and qualitative integrity: Challenges for research with families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77, 243-260. doi:10.1111/jomf.12147
- Sale, J. E. M., Lohfeld, L. H., & Brazil, K. (2002). Revisiting the quantitative-qualitative debate: Implications for mixed-methods research. *Quality and Quantity*, *36*(1), 43-53. doi:10.1023/a:1014301607592
- Salkind, N. J. (2016). Exploring research (9th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Sarbu, M. (2014). Determinants of work-at-home arrangements for German employees.

 *Review of Labour Economics & Industrial Relations, 29, 444-469.

 doi:10.1111/labr.12061
- Scott, G. M., & Garner, R. (2014). *Doing qualitative research: Designs, methods, and techniques*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.

- Seyrek, I. H., & Turan, A. (2017). Effects of individual characteristics and work-related factors on the turnover intention of accounting professionals. *International Journal of Academic Research in Accounting, Finance and Management Sciences*, 7(1), 236-244. doi:10.6007/IJARAFMS/v7-i1/2648
- Shaheen, I., Batool, Q., Sajid, M. A., & Nabi, G. (2013). Impact of stress on the performance of employees of banks in Kotli. *International Journal of Marketing and Technology*, *3*(6), 85-98. Retrieved from http://www.indianjournals.com
- Shrestha, A. K., & Mishra, A. K. (2015). Perceived organizational support, organizational identification, and employee outcomes. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 9(1), 17-26. doi:10.1027/1866-5888/a000007
- Silverman, D. (2015). Interpreting qualitative data. London, UK: Sage.
- Small, W., Maher, L., & Kerr, T. (2014). Institutional ethical review and ethnographic research involving injection drug users: A case study. *Social Science & Medicine*, 104, 157-162. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.12.010
- Stout, M. S., Awad, G., & Guzmán, M. (2013). Exploring managers' attitudes toward work/family programs in the private sector. *Psychologist-Manager Journal*, 16(3), 176-195. doi:10.1037/mgr0000005
- Sturman, M. C., & Walsh, K. (2014). Strengthening the employment relationship:

 The effects of work-hours fit on key employee attitudes. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 35, 762-784. doi:10.1002/job.1925

- Su, X., Li, X., & Curry, E. (2016). Understanding workplace flexibility in state agencies:

 What facilitates employee access? *The American Review of Public*Administration, 46(4), 1-19. doi:10.1177/0275074016642014
- Sudha, V. (2017). Factors determining job satisfaction among private sector bank employees. *International Education and Research Journal*, *3*(3), 31-32. Retrieved from http://ierj.in/journal/index.php/ierj/article/view/737/714
- Sweet, S., Pitt-Catsouphes, M., & James, J. B. (2017). Manager attitudes concerning flexible work arrangements: fixed or changeable? *Community, Work, & Family*, 20, 50-71. doi:10.1080/13668803.2016.1271311
- Sweet, S., Pitt-Catsouphes, M., Besen, E., & Golden, L. (2014). Explaining organizational variation in flexible work arrangements: Why the pattern and scale of availability matter. *Community, Work, & Family, 17*, 115-141. doi:10.1080/13668803.2014.887553
- Thompson, R. J., Payne, S. C., & Taylor, A. B. (2015). Applicant attraction to flexible work arrangements: Separating the influence of flextime and flexplace. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 88(4), 726-749. doi:10.1111/joop.12095
- Timms, C., Brough, P., O'Driscoll, M., Kalliath, T., Siu, O. L., Sit, C., & Lo, D. (2014). Flexible work arrangements, work engagement, turnover intentions and psychological health. *Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources*, *53*, 1-24. doi:10.1111/1744-7941.12030

- Turner, S. F., Cardinal, L. B., & Burton, R. M. (2017). Research design for mixed methods. *Organizational Research Methods*, 20(2), 243-267. doi:10.1177/1094428115610808
- Van Manen, M. (2014). Phenomenology of practice: Meaning-giving methods in phenomenological research and writing. Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Press.
- Vanishree, P. (2014). Impact on role ambiguity, role conflict, and role overload on job stress in small and medium scale industries. *Research Journal of Management Science*, 3, 10-13. Retrieved from http://www.isca.in
- Veeramani, G., & Gayathri, R. (2013). A conceptual study on implication of quality work life (QWL) in human resource management. *International Journal of Management Research and Reviews*, 3, 3949-3953. Retrieved from http://ijmrr.com
- Voydanoff, P. (2001). Incorporating community into work and family research: A review of basic relationships. *Human Relations*, *54*, 1609-1637. doi:10.1177/00187267015412003
- Walliman, N. (2017). Research methods: The basics. Abingdon, UK: Routledge.
- Weiß, E. E. (2017). Worktime control and work stress: The moderating effect of self-comparisons and social comparisons. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 1-23. doi:10.1080/09585192.2017.1365747
- Wells-Lepley, M., Thelen, L. A., & Swanberg, J. (2015). Supervisors' use of flexibility as a strategic management tool: Prevalence and predictors. *The Psychologist-Manager Journal*, 18, 31-53. doi:10.1037/mgr0000027

- Wheatley, D. (2017). Autonomy in paid work and employee subjective well-being. *Work and Occupations*, 44(3), 296-328. doi:10.1177/0730888417697232
- Williams, J. C., Blair-Loy, M., & Berdahl, J. L. (2013). Cultural schemas, social class, and the flexibility stigma. *Journal of Social Issues*, 69(2), 209-234. doi:10.1111/josi.12012
- Willig, C., & Stainton-Rogers, W. (Eds.). (2017). *The SAGE handbook of qualitative research in psychology* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Wincup, E. (2017). Criminological research: Understanding qualitative methods. Leeds, UK: Sage.
- Wright, A., Crettenden, A., & Skinner, N. (2015). Dads care too! Participation in paid employment and experiences of workplace flexibility for Australian fathers caring for children and young adults with disabilities. *Community, Work, & Family*, 19(3), 340-361. doi:10.1080/13668803.2015.1052041
- Wright, K. B., Abendschein, B., Wombacher, K., O'Connor, M., Hoffman, M., Dempsey,
 M., & Shelton, A. (2014). Work-related communication technology use outside of regular work hours and work life conflict. The influence of communication technologies on perceived work life conflict, burnout, job satisfaction, and turnover intentions. *Management Communication Quarterly*, 28, 507-530.
 doi:10.1177/0893318914533332
- Yamaguchi, Y., Inoue, T., Harada, H., & Oike, M. (2016). Job control, work-family balance, and nurses 'intention to leave their profession and organization: A comparative cross-sectional survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 64,

- 52-62. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.09.003
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yukl, G. A. (2013). Leadership in organization (8th ed.). Albany, NY: Prentice-Hall.
- Zhang, J., Ahammad, M. F., Tarba, S., Cooper, C. L., Glaister, K. W., & Wang, J. (2015).
 The effect of leadership style on talent retention during merger and acquisition integration: Evidence from China. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 26, 1021-1050. doi:10.1080/09585192.2014.908316

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Interview Date:	Interview Time:
Interview Location:	
	Decordens
Name of Participant:	Pseudonym:
Name of Farticipant.	r seadonym

Introduction

Thank you for agreeing to take part in this study. Once again, the purpose of this study is to explore the strategies that corporate accounting and finance leaders implement to promote workplace flexibility for increasing accountants' retention. Your contribution may help leaders improve strategies to encourage workplace flexibility that may contribute to a positive employee and organizational outcomes. I have included a copy of the interview protocol and your signed consent form for your records.

I will record your response and all the information you provide for this study is confidential. As a reminder, you can withdraw from the interview at any time without any penalty. After today's interview, I will transcribe your responses and send you a copy of the transcript so that you can review it for accuracy. I will also set up a follow-up session to give you the opportunity to provide any additional information you may have. Do you have any questions? I will record your response to the following interview questions:

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you used to encourage workplace flexibility?
- 2. What are the most effective strategies you used to improve workplace flexibility?
- 3. What barriers to workplace flexibility did you encounter?

- 4. How have employees reacted to your current workplace flexibility strategies?
- 5. How does your organization track the effectiveness of your strategies to increase workplace flexibility for increasing accountants' retention?
- 6. What additional information would you like to add relating to the topic of workplace flexibility strategies?

Wrap Up

Thank you again you for agreeing to take part in this study. I trully apprcia	te your	
contribution. I will send you a coy of the transcript for your review. When will be a good		
day and time for us to meet for a follow up interview?		
Follow up interview Date: Time:		
Do you have any questions for me? Please feel free to contact me if you have any		
questions.		